## Periodic Status Review for Blue, Fin, Sei, North Pacific Right, and Sperm Whales



The Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife maintains a list of endangered, threatened, and sensitive species (Washington Administrative Codes 220-610-010 and 220-200-100). In 1990, the Washington Wildlife Commission adopted listing procedures developed by a group of citizens, interest groups, and state and federal agencies (Washington Administrative Code 220-610-110). These procedures include how species listings will be initiated, criteria for listing and delisting, a requirement for public review, the development of recovery or management plans, and the periodic review of listed species.

The Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife is directed to conduct reviews of each endangered, threatened, or sensitive wildlife species at least every five years after the date of its listing by the Washington Fish and Wildlife Commission. These periodic reviews include an update on the species status to determine whether the species warrants its current listing or deserves reclassification. The agency notifies the general public and specific parties interested in the periodic status review, at least one year prior to the end of the five-year period, so that they may submit new scientific data to be included in the review. The agency notifies the public of its recommendation at least 30 days prior to presenting the findings to the Fish and Wildlife Commission. In addition, if the agency determines that new information suggests that the classification of a species be changed from its present state, the Department prepares documents to determine the environmental consequences of adopting the recommendations pursuant to requirements of the State Environmental Policy Act.

This draft periodic status review for the blue whale, fin whale, sei whale, North Pacific right whale, and the sperm whale was reviewed by species experts and will be available for a 90-day public comment period from May 19 to August 17, 2017. All comments received will be considered during the preparation of the final periodic status review. The Department intends to present the results of this periodic status review to the Fish and Wildlife Commission for action at an upcoming meeting. Submit written comments on this report by e-mail by August 17, 2017 to:

Tand Epublic com@dfw.wa.gov

Or by mail to:

Listing and Recovery Section Manager, Wildlife Program Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife 600 Capitol Way North, Olympia, Washington 98501-1091

This report should be cited as

Wiles, G. J. 2017. Draft periodic status review for the blue, fin, sei, North Pacific right, and sperm whales in Washington. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington. 46+ iii pp.

On the cover: inset photos (clockwise from top), spyhopping sperm whale by Victoria Hoete-Dodd, Flickr Creative Commons; sei whale by Perer Duley, NMFS Northwest Fisheries Science Center; fin whale by Loren Javier, Flickr Creative Commons; blue whale by greatbluemarble, Flickr Creative Commons (bottom); and background photo of North Pacific right whale and its v-shaped blow, NOAA Photo Library.



This work was supported in part by personalized and endangered species license plates



# Draft Periodic Status Review for Blue, Fin, Sei, North Pacific Right, and Sperm Whales in Washington

Prepared by Gary J. Wiles

Wildlife Program, Diversity Division Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife 600 Capitol Way North Olympia, Washington 98501-1091

May 2017

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	
INTRODUCTION	1
SPECIES BACKGROUND AND NATURAL HISTORY	1
POPULATION STATUS AND TRENDS	8
FACTORS AFFECTING CONTINUED EXISTENCE	13
MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES	20
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION	22
LITERATURE CITED	24
PERSONAL COMMUNICATIONS	38
Appendix A. Records of blue whales, fin whales, sei whales, North Pacific right whales, and sperm whales from Washington waters or farther offshore since the 1950s	
LIST OF FIGURES  Figure 1. Blue whale mother and calf	1
Figure 2. Fin whale	2
Figure 3. Sei whale mother and calf	4
Figure 4. North Pacific right whale	5
Figure 5. Sperm whale mother and calf	7
Figure 6. Processing a sperm whale at the Bay City whaling station at Bay City, Washington,	
circa 1920	15
LIST OF TABLES	
Table 1. Numbers of whales processed historically at shore whaling stations in Bay City, Washington, and in British Columbia	14
Table 2. Conservation status of blue, fin, sei, North Pacific right, and sperm whales under seven listing arrangements	15
Table 3. Numbers of strandings, including those linked to ship strikes, of five whale species in Washington, 1980–2016	16
Table 4. Numbers of large whale entanglements documented in Washington by species, locations, and time period, 1990–2017	17

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

Kristin Wilkinson, Stephanie Norman, Jessie Huggins, and Tag Gornall were especially helpful in providing data and other information on whale strandings, ship strikes, and entanglements in Washington. Scott Mills and Howard Garrett supplied whale sighting records from Westport Seabirds and Orca Network, respectively. Other useful information came from John Calambokidis, Steve Jeffries, Dan Ayres, Heather Reed, Corey Niles, Jessi Doerpinghaus, and Lynne Barre. Peer review comments were provided by Kate Stafford, Jenny Waddell, Derek Stinson, Jeff Moore, Jim Carretta, Don Noviello, and Anthony Novack. Terri Middleton of the Jones Photo Historical Collection, Anderson & Middleton Company, kindly allowed the use of the historical whaling photograph appearing in Figure 6. Funding for the preparation of this periodic status review came from Washington background license plates for endangered wildlife and Washington personalized license plates.

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Blue, fin, sei, North Pacific right, and sperm whales have been listed as state endangered species in Washington since 1981. Populations of all five species, including those in the North Pacific Ocean, greatly declined in the 1800s and 1900s from being severely overharvested by whalers. Current abundance remains strongly influenced by past levels of whaling harvest. Information on the biology, stock status, and trend of these species is summarized below.

- Blue whale This large baleen whale forages primarily on krill along continental shelf slopes and deeper oceanic waters. Animals off Washington belong to the Eastern North Pacific stock, which migrates between northern summer feeding locations and wintering areas off western Mexico and Central America. Current stock size is about 1,600 whales and remains below the estimated historical stock size of 2,200 individuals. Stock trend is possibly stable. Blue whales are now regularly present off the outer Washington coast.
- Fin whale Another large baleen whale, this species occurs mainly along or beyond continental shelf breaks, where it feeds on krill, forage fish, and other prey. Fin whales off Washington belong to the California/Oregon/Washington stock, which is at least partially migratory. The stock currently holds about 9,000 animals and is experiencing strong growth. Historical stock size is unknown. Fin whales are now regularly present off the outer coast of Washington. Rare sightings in the Salish Sea in 2015 and 2016 are the first in recent decades.
- Sei whale This medium-sized baleen whale forages on copepods and other prey mainly in deep oceanic waters. Most individuals are migratory between higher latitudes in the summer and lower latitudes in the winter. Animals off Washington belong to the Eastern North Pacific stock, which currently numbers about 500 whales. Trend and historical stock size are unknown. Although there have been no recent confirmed detections of sei whales in Washington, the species likely remains a rare visitor to the state's outermost waters.
- North Pacific right whale A large baleen whale, this species feeds primarily on copepods in shelf, shelf edge, and deeper oceanic waters, and is migratory between northern summering areas and southern wintering areas. Animals along the western North American coast belong to the Eastern North Pacific stock. Once abundant, this stock now contains about 30 whales and is near extirpation, with no sign of recovery. Stock members are very rare visitors south of Alaska, with just a handful of records off the outer coast of Washington since the early 1900s.
- Sperm whale The largest of the toothed whales, sperm whales are deep diving predators of mainly squid. Deep oceanic waters are inhabited, although males sometimes venture onto continental shelves. Animals off Washington belong to the California/Oregon/Washington stock, which currently numbers about 2,100 whales. Although historical stock size is unknown, it was probably larger than current size. Stock trend is possibly stable. Sperm whales are regularly present off the outer Washington coast.

The stocks of all five species face potentially significant and increasing threats from one or more factors, with those of greatest concern being ship strikes, entanglement in fishing gear and marine debris, human-generated marine sound, climate change, and in the case of North Pacific right whales, issues related to small population size. With these considerations in mind and because all five species are federally listed as endangered, it is recommended that blue, fin, sei, North Pacific right, and sperm whales remain listed as state endangered species in Washington.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

This periodic status review summarizes the biology, population status, threats, and recent management actions directed at four species of baleen whales and one species of toothed whale that occur in the marine waters of Washington. These species are the blue whale (*Balaenoptera musculus*), fin whale (*B. physalus*), sei whale (*B. borealis*), North Pacific right whale (*Eubalaena japonica*), and sperm whale (*Physeter macrocephalus*). This review also assesses whether these species should retain their current endangered status under state law or be reclassified to another status. The Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW) has not previously published status reports for these whales.

#### SPECIES BACKGROUND AND NATURAL HISTORY

Blue whale. This species is the world's largest animal, with individuals measuring 24–32.6 m (79–107 ft) in length and weighing between 69,000 and 145,000 kg (76 and 160 tons) (Shirihai and Jarrett 2006, Deméré 2014). Females are somewhat larger than males, and animals in the Southern Hemisphere are larger than those in the Northern Hemisphere. Blue whales have a long and slender head and body, a broadly flattened and tapering head, a very small dorsal fin, and mottled gray or bluish-gray body coloration (Figure 1; Shirihai and Jarrett 2006).

Blue whales are a member of the rorqual family Balaenopteridae (i.e., baleen whales with expandable throat pleats) and are found in oceans worldwide, excluding most of the Arctic Ocean. Five subspecies are recognized, with *B. m. musculus* present in the North Pacific and North Atlantic (Committee of Taxonomy 2016). Two populations, or stocks, exist in the North Pacific and are known as the Eastern North Pacific and Central North Pacific stocks (Monahan et al. 2014, Carretta et al.



Figure 1. Blue whale mother and calf (photo by J. Gilpatrick and M. Lynn, NOAA).

2016). The Eastern North Pacific stock, which occurs off Washington, ranges from the Gulf of Alaska to the eastern tropical Pacific (Stafford et al. 1999). The species generally occurs farther offshore than most other whales, but also makes regular use of continental shelf waters. All records from Washington (excluding two ship strike records) are from off the outer coast (Appendix A; Scheffer and Slipp 1948).

Blue whales feed primarily on krill (euphausiids), with *Euphausia pacifica*, *Thysanoessa spinifera*, and *Nyctiphanes simplex* among the most targeted species along the west coast of North America (Yochem and Leatherwood 1985, Schoenherr 1991, Fiedler et al. 1998). Less significant prey include

copepods, pelagic red crabs, and possibly fish. Blue whales feed by engulfing large volumes of water and prey in their mouths, which are then filtered against the baleen plates. Foraging occurs within the upper 350 m of water, and is usually shallower at night when krill ascend toward the sea surface (Friedlaender et al. 2015, Mate et al. 2015). Foraging dives typically last under 15 minutes and involve lunging and rolling motions (Goldbogen et al. 2011, 2012, 2015, Mate et al. 2015). An average of 1–4 feeding lunges are made per dive (Goldbogen et al. 2011, Friedlaender et al. 2015, Mate et al. 2015). Foraging animals often aggregate along continental shelf edges where upwelling produces concentrations of krill (Schoenherr 1991, Fiedler et al. 1998, Gregr and Trites 2001, Deméré 2014). Feeding appears to occur throughout the year, but predominates from spring to early winter.

In general, the species migrates between feeding grounds in higher latitude regions in the summer and fall and lower latitudes during winter and spring. Most of the Eastern North Pacific stock spends the winter off Baja California, in the Gulf of California, and off Costa Rica and Nicaragua (Mate et al. 1999, 2015, Stafford et al. 1999, Bailey et al. 2009). Animals then travel northward to spend the summer and fall at highly productive feeding areas near cold water upwellings, especially off California, but with some ranging as far north as the Gulf of Alaska (Gregr 2000, Burtenshaw et al. 2004, Stafford et al. 2009, Calambokidis et al. 2009, 2015, Irvine et al. 2014, Campbell et al. 2015, Mate et al. 2015). Although not well documented, some portions of this stock's range remain occupied during most or all of the year (e.g., Stafford et al. 2009). Acoustic detections indicate that blue whales can occur off Washington during all months (Appendix A).

Blue whales do not form close-knit groups and usually live alone or with 1–2 other individuals (Deméré 2014, Lomac-MacNair and Smultea 2016). However, as many as 50 may gather when foraging in areas with abundant food.

Mating takes place during the winter and probably involves males competing for females (Sears et al. 2013). Females give birth to a single calf every 2–4 years, with births happening from fall to midwinter in the Northern Hemisphere (COSEWIC 2002, Sears et al. 2013, Deméré 2014). Mexico and Central America are regular calving and nursing areas for the Eastern North Pacific stock, but other locations may exist as well (Sears et al. 2013). Both sexes reach sexual maturity at 8–10 or more years of age at body lengths of 21–24 m for females and 20–23 m for males (Sears et al. 2013,

Deméré 2014). Life span probably averages about 65 years with a maximum of 80 years (Deméré 2014).

Fin whale. This is the second largest species of whale, reaching lengths of 22–27 m (72–89 ft) and weights of 60,000–90,000 kg (66–99 tons) (Deméré 2014). Animals in the Southern Hemisphere are larger than those in the Northern Hemisphere, and females are 5–10% larger than males. Fin whales have a long sleek head and body and a noticeable dorsal fin. Body coloration is



Figure 2. Fin whale (photo by Aqqa Rosing-Asvid, Flickr Creative Commons).

dark gray on the back and flanks and white beneath, with several pale gray V-shaped markings on the back behind the head (Figure 2; Shirihai and Jarrett 2006). The head features an asymmetrical color pattern that is mostly dark gray except for a whitish lower right jaw.

Fin whales belong to the family Balaenopteridae and are found in oceans worldwide, excluding most of the Arctic Ocean and tropical regions between 20°N and 20°S (Mizroch et al. 2009, Edwards et al. 2015). Three subspecies are recognized, with *B. p. physalus* present across most of the North Pacific, including the west coast of North America, and in the North Atlantic (Committee of Taxonomy 2016; but see Archer et al. 2013). In the North Pacific, two major population groupings, one in the east and one in the west, have been distinguished (Nishiwaki 1966, Mizroch et al. 2009). Fin whales in U.S. Pacific waters are currently managed as three stocks, which are the California/Oregon/Washington, Northeast Pacific, and Hawaii stocks (Carretta et al. 2016, Muto et al. 2016). Records from Washington originate predominantly from off the outer coast, with a few non-ship-strike records also coming from the Salish Sea (Appendix A; Scammon 1874, Scheffer and Slipp 1948).

Diet is comprised of krill (euphausiids; e.g., *Euphausia pacifica, Thysanoessa* spp., and *Nyctiphanes simplex* in the eastern North Pacific), large copepods, small schooling fish (e.g., herring, capelin, pollock, and anchovies), and occasionally small squid (Flinn et al. 2002, Ladrón de Guevara P. et al. 2008, Mizroch et al. 2009, Sigler et al. 2012, Deméré 2014, Friedlaender et al. 2015, Witteveen and Wynne 2016). Fasting or minimal feeding takes place in the winter. Like other rorquals, fin whales feed by lunging into schools of prey with their mouths open, using the throat pleats to gulp large volumes of food and water, and then filtering the food from the water with their baleen (Goldbogen et al. 2007). Foraging dives usually last 3–10 minutes and can vary from shallow depths to more than 470 m deep (Panigada et al. 1999, Friedlaender et al. 2015). Foraging occurs at locations with high prey productivity, mainly along or beyond continental shelf breaks, but sometimes over shelves as well (Schorr et al. 2013, Ford 2014).

Most populations of fin whales were formerly believed to migrate annually between higher latitude summer feeding grounds and lower latitude wintering grounds, but recent analyses reveal a more complex and variable pattern of movements that remains poorly understood (Mizroch et al. 2009, Oleson et al. 2014, Edwards et al. 2015). In the North Pacific, fin whales summer from latitudes of roughly 30°N to 70°N (Mizroch et al. 2009). However, some whales remain present in much of this range year-round to as far north as the Gulf of Alaska and the Commander Islands (e.g., Stafford et al. 2009, Campbell et al. 2015) and do not travel to southern wintering grounds, the locations of which have yet to be discovered. Additionally, several genetically distinct non-migratory populations have been identified in the North Pacific, including one in the Gulf of California (Mizroch et al. 2009).

Fin whales in the northeastern Pacific, including those in the California/Oregon/Washington stock, are at least partially migratory, based on records of wintering animals marked off Baja California and southern California being relocated during the summer off central California, Oregon, British Columbia, and Alaska (Rice 1974, Mizroch et al. 2009) and on telemetry records of individuals tagged off Washington (Schorr et al. 2013). Whaling records that revealed increases in abundance off Washington (May, June, and September; Scheffer and Slipp 1948) and British Columbia (June to September; Gregr et al. 2000) are consistent with some annual migration along this portion of the

North American west coast. Acoustic detections indicate that fin whales are present off Washington for most of the year (Appendix A).

Fin whales are generally solitary or occur in groups of 2–7 individuals (Deméré 2014). Larger aggregations regularly gather at concentrated food sources, but members demonstrate no social bonds.

Mating and calving take place during winter, with a single calf born at 2-year intervals. Pregnancy rates have been demonstrated to decline under conditions of reduced prey abundance (Williams et al. 2013). The locations of calving grounds remain largely undocumented. Historically, individuals did not reach sexual maturity until 10–12 years of age, but age of sexual maturity declined to 6–7 years in females and about 5 years in males when populations fell below carrying capacity due to whaling (Ohsumi 1986, NMFS 2010a, Deméré 2014). Fin whales may live 80–90 years (Aguilar 2002).

Sei whale. Sometimes described as the most graceful of whales (Haldane 1909), sei whales are a medium-sized rorqual that attains lengths of 17–20 m (56–66 feet) and weights of 22,000–38,000 kg (24–42 tons) (Deméré 2014). Females are somewhat larger than males and animals in the Southern Hemisphere are larger than those in the Northern Hemisphere. The species features a long streamlined head and body, a relatively tall and distinctively erect dorsal fin, and coloration that is dark bluish-gray to black above and whitish below (Figure 3; Shirihai and Jarrett 2006).

Sei whales are members of the family Balaenopteridae and are broadly distributed across the Pacific, Atlantic, and Indian oceans. Temperate waters are favored, with colder polar seas generally avoided. Two subspecies are recognized, with *B. b. borealis* present in the Northern Hemisphere (Committee of



Figure 3. Sei whale mother and calf (photo by Christin Khan, NOAA).

Taxonomy 2016). Two stocks referred to as the Eastern North Pacific and Hawaii stocks are managed in U.S. Pacific waters (Carretta et al. 2016). The Eastern North Pacific stock, which occurs off Washington, ranges from the west coast of North America westward to a longitude of 180°. Contrary to Osborne et al. (1988), all Washington records are from off the outer coast except for one ship-strike record (Appendix A; Scheffer and Slipp 1948). Sei whales are more pelagic than most other large whales and are mostly found in deep oceanic waters. They regularly occur along continental shelf slopes and edges, but infrequently venture over shelf waters (Gregr and Trites 2001, Deméré 2014).

The biology of sei whales is less known than for most other rorquals (Prieto et al. 2012). Diet is diverse, with copepods considered the primary food, but krill, amphipods, decapods, small schooling

fish, and squid are also taken, sometimes in large amounts depending on season and location (Horwood 1987, Flinn et al. 2002, Deméré 2014). Prey are filtered through the species' extremely fine baleen. Sei whales regularly exhibit skim-feeding behavior to capture low density prey at or near the surface, which is unique among the rorquals, but more typical lunge feeding is also practiced (Baumgartner and Fratantoni 2008). The species generally feeds at shallower depths (i.e., within the upper 100–150 m) than other rorquals. Foraging occurs when prey rise to near-surface waters and therefore is most common from dusk to dawn (e.g., Baumgartner and Fratantoni 2008). Most feeding occurs in summer (Horwood 1987). Sei whales often forage along or near oceanographic fronts and over areas of high topographic relief (e.g., seamounts), where conditions enhance prey abundance (Skov et al. 2008, Watanabe et al. 2012, Murase et al. 2014).

Most sei whales undertake annual migrations between summer feeding grounds at higher latitudes and wintering grounds at lower latitudes, although some animals may be sedentary year-round in temperate areas (Horwood 1987, Deméré 2014). Feeding ground locations can vary substantially among years depending on changing ocean conditions and resulting prey abundance. Migrating individuals are segregated by age, sex, and reproductive condition, with mature females being the first to depart the wintering grounds (Horwood 1987, Gregr et al. 2000). In the Eastern North Pacific stock, migration past Vancouver Island, British Columbia, mostly occurs from May to August (Pike and MacAskie 1969, Masaki 1977, Gregr et al. 2000) and past central California mainly in late summer and early fall (Rice 1974). Two individuals tagged off California were later caught off Washington and Vancouver Island (Rice 1974). The locations of this stock's summering and wintering grounds have not been identified.

Sei whales are usually seen alone or in groups of 2–6 animals (Schilling et al. 1992, Deméré 2014). Aside from mother-calf pairs, social bonds are apparently briefly maintained. Loose aggregations of as many as 100 individuals sometimes gather at feeding sites.

Mating and calving occur in winter, with one calf born every 2–3 years (Horwood 1987). Most births happen from about October to January (Rice 1977). Age and size of sexual maturity have declined since the 1920s to 1930s, probably due to changes in ocean carrying capacity caused by whaling (Lockyer 1984). Both sexes formerly did not reach sexual maturity until 11 years of age, but

now become sexually mature at about 8 years of age (Lockyer 1984, Horwood 1987). Life span is about 60 years.

North Pacific right whale. A large baleen whale, adults grow to lengths of 15.0–18.5 m (49–61 ft) and weights in excess of 80,000 kg (88 tons) (Shirihai and Jarrett 2006, Ivashchenko and Clapham 2012, Deméré 2014). Females are larger than males. Compared to rorqual whales, right whales have a much more rotund body shape, lack an expandable pleated throat, and have much taller baleen plates. North Pacific right whales have a large



Figure 4. North Pacific right whale (photo by Robert Pitman, NOAA).

head, narrow rostrum, highly arched mouthline, broad pectoral fins, smooth back without a dorsal fin, and a large well-notched tail. Coloration is typically blackish overall (Figure 5), although some individuals have an irregular white belly patch that occasionally extends onto the flanks. Small graywhite or black patches of roughened skin known as callosities are present on the head.

North Pacific right whales are members of the right whale family Balaenidae. The species was formerly treated as conspecific with the North Atlantic right whale (E. glacialis), but recent studies have confirmed the two as separate (Rosenbaum et al. 2000, Gaines et al. 2005, Churchill et al. 2011). No subspecies of North Pacific right whales are distinguished (Committee of Taxonomy 2016). The species is restricted to the North Pacific Ocean between 20°N and 60°N latitude, with most historical records distributed either north of 45°N and east of 175°W or north of 35°N and west of 170°E (Scarff 1986, 1991, Clapham et al. 2004, Josephson et al. 2008a, Gregr 2011). At present, most remaining occurrences are from the Sea of Okhotsk, east of the Kuril Islands and Kamchatka, and the southeastern Bering Sea (Sekiguchi et al. 2014, Ovsyanikova et al. 2015, Muto et al. 2016). In the eastern North Pacific, rare detections continue to be made in the Gulf of Alaska and even more rarely from British Columbia to Baja California and in Hawaii (Gendron et al. 1999, Salden and Mickelsen 1999, Mellinger et al. 2004, Wade et al. 2011a, Širović et al. 2015, Ford et al. 2016). Two stocks are currently recognized and are known as the Eastern North Pacific stock, which includes animals that venture to Washington, and the Western North Pacific stock (Muto et al. 2016). Despite the remarks in Osborne et al. (1988) and Calambokidis and Baird (1994), all Washington records appear to be from off the outer coast (Appendix A; Scheffer and Slipp 1948).

Diet is comprised mainly of calanoid copepods (especially *Calanus*, *Neocalanus*, and *Metridia*), with small euphausiids and amphipods also consumed (Omura 1969, Gregr and Coyle 2009, Baumgartner et al. 2013). The species' slow swimming speed precludes the capture of small fish and large krill. Prey are captured by skim feeding as the whales move with open mouths for 4–6 minutes through patches of prey, which are filtered through the whales' baleen. Feeding occurs from spring to fall, and varies in depth from the surface to at least 175 m (Kenney 2002, Wade et al. 2011a). Dives last 10–20 minutes (Kenney 2002). The species forages in shelf, shelf slope, and deeper oceanic waters with high prey abundance (Shelden et al. 2005, Gregr and Coyle 2009, Gregr 2011, Zerbini et al. 2015).

North Pacific right whales generally migrated between northern summering grounds and southern wintering grounds (Scarff 1991, Brownell et al. 2001, Clapham et al. 2004). However, animals were found across a broad latitudinal range during both seasons, suggesting a staggered migration pattern (Scarff 1991). The specific locations of wintering and calving areas for both stocks remain unconfirmed (NMFS 2013). The few historical records from along the west coast of North America indicate that the eastern stock might winter in mid-ocean waters (Scarff 1991).

This species is generally solitary or occurs in pairs, although larger groupings sometimes form at feeding and breeding sites (Jefferson et al. 2008). Individuals are regularly observed near other species of large whales (e.g., humpback whales [Megaptera novaeangliae]) when foraging (e.g., Wade et al. 2011a, Ford et al. 2016).

Little demographic information exists. Mating and calving occur from about November to March (Cummings 1985, Deméré 2014). Females give birth to one calf probably every 3–5 years. Age of sexual maturity is about 10 years and life span likely exceeds 70 years (Jefferson et al. 2008).

Sperm whale. This is the largest species of toothed whale. Adult males measure 15.2–19.2 m (50–63 ft) long and 45,000–70,000 kg (50–77 tons) in weight and are substantially larger than adult females, which reach 10.4–12.5 m (34–41 ft) long and 15,000–24,000 kg (16.5–26 tons) in weight (Mesnick 2014). Sperm whales have massive rectangular heads that comprise about one-third of the total body length in males. The head is often marked with pale scarring and has a comparatively small, narrow lower jaw with conical teeth. Other traits include a small



Figure 5. Sperm whale mother and calf (photo from Wikimedia Commons).

triangular dorsal fin, a ridge of smaller "knuckles" along the upper tail stock, broad triangular tail flukes, dark brownish-gray to black body coloration except for a whitish mouth and genital region, and a wrinkled appearance to the skin (Figure 5; Shirihai and Jarrett 2006).

Sperm whales are the only member of the family Physeteridae and no subspecies are recognized (Committee of Taxonomy 2016). The species is widely distributed in all oceans except ice-bound portions of the Arctic Ocean, with females and immatures usually occurring at lower latitudes than adult males (primarily south of 50°N in the Northern Hemisphere; Mesnick 2014). Older studies distinguished two or three discrete populations in the North Pacific (see Mizroch and Rice 2013), and animals in U.S. Pacific waters are currently managed as three stocks known as the California/Oregon/Washington, North Pacific, and Hawaii stocks (Carretta et al. 2016, Muto et al. 2016). However, these population assignments are not biologically supported based on the broad movements of sperm whales within the North Pacific (Mizroch and Rice 2013, Straley et al. 2014). In addition, recent genetic analyses indicate low levels or an absence of population structure within the Pacific (Mesnick et al. 2011, Alexander et al. 2016). Sperm whales chiefly inhabit deep oceanic waters, approaching land mainly where shelf edges and submarine canyons exist near coasts, although males regularly venture into shallower waters in some locations (Whitehead 2003, Ford 2014). All Washington records are from off the outer coast (Appendix A; Scheffer and Slipp 1948).

Feeding is believed to occur year-round. Diet consists mainly of numerous species of large to small pelagic squid, with usually much smaller quantities of sharks, rays, other fish, and octopus also eaten (Rice 1989, Whitehead 2003). Males typically eat more fish than females, and in some northern areas, males may feed primarily on fish. Squid dominate the diet along the west coast of North America, although ragfish (*Icosteus* spp.) and rockfish (*Sebastes* spp.) are also consumed in significant amounts (Scheffer and Slipp 1948, Fiscus et al. 1989, Flinn et al. 2002, Harvey et al. 2014). Foraging sperm whales are known for making deep and prolonged dives that commonly reach depths of 200–1,200 m, but can possibly extend to >3,000 m deep (Whitehead 2003, Watwood et al. 2006, Aoki et

al. 2007, Davis et al. 2007, Teloni et al. 2008). Dives usually last <45 minutes, but sometimes continue >90 minutes. Multiple prey are caught per dive using echolocation (Mesnick 2014, Fais et al. 2016). Surface time between dives averages 5–12 minutes.

Sperm whales are believed to be nomadic, with both sexes moving widely across the North Pacific (Mizroch and Rice 2013). Males appear to travel farther than females, although maximum travel distances in both sexes occasionally exceed 4,000 km (Whitehead et al. 2008, Mizroch and Rice 2013). Movements are probably frequently linked to changes in squid abundance (Whitehead 2003). Areas of sperm whale concentrations in the North Pacific correspond with oceanographic frontal areas where high nutrient levels exist (Mizroch and Rice 2013). Migration to lower latitudes also occurs, with mature males periodically doing so to breed and females doing so to find warmer waters during winter. Three satellite-tagged males moved from Southeast Alaska to Mexico following a route that took them along or near the continental shelf slope off Washington (Straley et al. 2014). Acoustic detections indicate that sperm whales can occur off Washington during all months (Appendix A).

Sperm whales are the most social of the great whales and form several types of social groupings. Related females and their offspring (including immature males up to 4–21 years old) live in stable matrilineal-based units averaging about 10 animals, which regularly join with unrelated units to form larger temporary groups of 20–40 whales (Whitehead 2003, Gero et al. 2014, 2015, Mesnick 2014). Members of matrilineal units share in the care of younger calves. Upon departing their birth unit, males form loose bachelor groups typically containing 10–25 animals. Adult males become less social as they grow older, usually becoming solitary, but sometimes temporarily associating with a few other large males.

Sexual maturity is achieved at 7–13 years of age in females and 18–21 years of age in males, but both sexes continue to grow until reaching physical maturity at about 25–45 years in females and 35–60 years in males (Rice 1989). Maximum life span is estimated at 77 years (Mesnick 2014). In the North Pacific, mating probably occurs in April and May and calving from June to October (Ohsumi 1965, Gregr et al. 2000). Only larger, older males are able to compete for breeding females. Adult males travel between groups of females, spending only a few hours with each group as they search for receptive females (Jaquet and Gendron 2009). Females give birth to single calves at 4–6-year intervals (Rice 1989). The species is characterized by a low maximum potential rate of increase, possibly as low as 1% annually (Whitehead 2002).

#### POPULATION STATUS AND TRENDS

In the following species accounts, reported stock sizes do not represent closed population estimates for any species (Barlow 2016). Surveys by the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) overlap with the summer-fall migration period when both migrating and resident whales are present. Thus, survey results are subject to year-to-year variation caused by changes in environmental conditions that can affect movement patterns, prey availability, and other influences. Kracker and Menza (2015) summarized the different types of surveys conducted for large whales and other marine mammals in Washington from 2002 to 2014.

*Blue whale.* The pre-whaling global population of this species was several hundred thousand animals, most of which occurred in the Southern Hemisphere (Branch et al. 2004). Total numbers declined to fewer than 10,000 whales by the 1970s due to massive harvest (Gambell 1976, 1979) and are currently estimated at 10,000–25,000 animals (Reilly et al. 2008).

Monahan et al. (2015) estimated the pre-whaling size of the Eastern North Pacific stock to be 2,210 (95% credible interval = 1,823–3,721) whales and that numbers never fell below 460 individuals during the whaling era. Despite some variation in population estimates, the best current estimate of the stock's size is 1,647 whales (CV = 0.07) based on photographic mark-recapture analyses from 2008 to 2011 (Calambokidis and Barlow 2013, Carretta et al. 2016). There is no verified change in population size since the early 1990s (Carretta et al. 2016). In contrast, Monnahan et al. (2014) have suggested that this stock grew at 2% annually from 1993 to 2008 and is near carrying capacity, and has therefore recovered. Although the highest concentrations of animals in this stock are found off California, there has been a partial distributional shift resulting in increased abundance off Oregon, Washington, British Columbia, and Alaska in recent years, possibly due to decadal changes in oceanographic conditions (Calambokidis et al. 2009, Barlow 2010, 2016).

Blue whale abundance off Washington has not been well described. The Makah were familiar with the species and may have rarely hunted it (Swan 1870:19). The large number of blue whale harvest records from Alaska and British Columbia (Gregr et al. 2000, Gregr and Trites 2001, Rankin et al. 2006, Monnahan et al. 2014) suggests that the species was formerly a common passage migrant off Washington. Based on the few whales captured by vessels from the Bay City whaling station (see Table 2 in Overexploitation), it is likely that the species was mainly distributed well offshore (Scheffer and Slipp 1948).

Acoustic and telemetry studies since the mid-1990s indicate that blue whales are regularly present in modest numbers off Washington (Appendix A). Vocalizations typically peak from September to February (Appendix A), but this pattern does not necessarily reflect seasonal presence in state waters (Stafford et al. 2009). Sightings off Washington are rare, with just a few made since the late 1950s, and the species is infrequently observed during visual surveys (Appendix A, B). One noteworthy sighting involved six whales seen on 8 December 2011, four of which were previously recorded off California (Appendix A). The only strandings of blue whales in the state since at least 1980 were two animals killed by ship strikes that were likely carried into Washington (Appendix A; NMFS, unpubl. data).

Fin whale. Evans (1987) estimated the pre-whaling population size of this species at about 548,000 animals. Commercial harvests began in the 1870s, then intensified during the 20th century and were highest in the Southern Hemisphere (Rocha et al. 2014). In the North Pacific, abundance declined from a pre-whaling estimate of 42,000–45,000 animals to 13,600–18,700 animals by 1973, with 8,500–11,000 of these in the eastern North Pacific (Ohsumi and Wada 1974). Harvest in this region peaked from 1951 to 1972 (Danner at al. 2006, Mizroch et al. 2009, Rocha et al. 2014). Recent estimates of the worldwide and North Pacific populations are lacking, but global numbers have probably increased since whaling ended and may now exceed 100,000 animals (see Reilly et al. 2013, Thomas et al. 2016).

Size of the California/Oregon/Washington stock before and immediately after the whaling era is unreported. However, many fin whales were killed by shore-based whalers along the U.S. west coast during the 1900s (nearly 2,700 whales; Mizroch et al. 2009 [supplementary tables]). Harvest was even higher off British Columbia (>7,600 whales) and may have included some animals belonging to this stock. The stock has shown strong growth in recent decades (especially in the Oregon-Washington zone) and held an estimated 9,029 (CV = 0.12) whales in 2014 (Nadeem et al. 2016 [supplemental tables]). Numbers increased roughly five-fold from 1991 to 2014, with the average annual rate of increase estimated at 7.5% (95% prediction interval = 5.1–9.8%) during this period (Moore and Barlow 2011, Nadeem et al. 2016). Fin whales are now the second-most common large whale along the U.S. west coast after migrating gray whales (*Eschrichtius robustus*; see Barlow 2016). Strong recovery in British Columbia has also been noted in recent years (Ford 2014).

Fin whale abundance in Washington has not been well detailed. Fin whales were occasionally caught by tribes along the outer northwest Washington coast (Collins 1892:243, Scheffer and Slipp 1948) and their bones represent a small fraction of the whale bones recovered at archaeological sites in the area (Huelsbeck 1988, 1994). The species was considered common off the outer coast in the 1800s and early 1900s (Scammon 1874, Scheffer and Slipp 1948) and was the second-most harvested whale by Bay City whalers (see Table 2 in Overexploitation). However, fin whale numbers became depleted as whaling progressed through the 1960s. Most visual surveys from 1989 to 2007 failed to sight the species (Appendix B). Nevertheless, detections (mostly acoustic) have regularly occurred off Washington since the 1990s (Appendix A) and the species is now recorded throughout most of each year. Vocalizations typically peak from September to April (Appendix A), but this pattern may not accurately reflect seasonal presence (Stafford et al. 2009) and contrasts with the seasonality of past harvest records that showed most captures in May, June, and September (Scheffer and Slipp 1948). The increased numbers of records since the 1990s are likely due to expanded survey efforts, partial recovery of the stock, and immigration of animals into the stock's range (Stafford et al. 2009, Moore and Barlow 2011). Guide and Grays Canyons are two areas of concentrated sightings off Washington (Calambokidis et al. 2015).

Fin whales may have once been occasional or regular visitors to the Salish Sea (Scammon 1874, Scheffer and Slipp 1948, Calambokidis and Baird 1994), but there are few early accounts to confirm this. Scheffer and Slipp (1948) documented only two verified or potential records in Washington's inner marine waters from 1915 to the late 1940s, suggesting presence was rare during this period, and there were apparently no further reports (excluding ship strikes) into the 1980s (Everitt et al. 1980, Osborne et al. 1988). Several sightings have since been made, including two or three separate individuals seen in 2015 and 2016 (Appendix A), but the species remains rare in these waters.

Twelve stranding records of fin whales exist for Washington since 1986, with all but one occurring after 2001 (see Table 3 in Ship strikes; Appendix A). Vessel strikes were implicated in ten of these instances. Many of these collisions may have occurred outside of Washington, thus they are not reliable indicators of presence in the state (Douglas et al. 2008).

*Sei whale.* The global population of sei whales declined from an estimated 250,000 animals before whaling to perhaps 32,000 animals by the 1970s to 1980s (Evans 1987, Thomas et al. 2016). Most harvest didn't begin until the late 1800s, with catch peaking from 1960 to 1970 (Horwood 2002). Pre-whaling numbers in the North Pacific ranged from 42,000 to 62,000 animals, but fell to an

estimated 8,600 whales by the time whaling ceased (Ohsumi and Wada 1974, Tillman 1977). Current abundance in this region is estimated at about 29,600 (CV = 0.242; 95% CI = 18,576–47,267) animals (IWC 2016). Japan's research whaling program has taken 90–100 sei whales annually in the western North Pacific since 2004 (Thomas et al. 2016). An assessment of the North Pacific population by the International Whaling Commission (IWC) is pending to determine the sustainability of this continued harvest (IWC 2016).

The original size of the Eastern North Pacific stock is unknown, but large numbers were harvested off Vancouver Island and elsewhere in British Columbia from 1908 to 1967, with more than half caught between 1962 and 1966 (see Table 2 in Overexploitation; Pike and MacAskie 1969, Gregr et al. 2000, Gregr and Trites 2001). The rarity of sightings along the U.S. and Canadian west coasts since the 1970s (COSEWIC 2003, Ford 2014, Barlow 2016, Carretta et al. 2016) indicates that the stock remains depleted (IWC 2016), but the species is difficult to survey because of its distribution farther offshore. The best estimate of abundance for California, Oregon, and Washington waters out to 556 km (300 nautical mi) is 519 (CV = 0.40) whales based on survey results averaged for 2008 and 2014 (Barlow 2016; Carretta et al., in prep.). Despite a recent increase in numbers seen during surveys (Barlow 2016), stock trend is best treated as unknown (Carretta et al., in prep.).

Sei whale abundance off Washington has not been well described. The many catch records from British Columbia suggest that the species was probably once moderately common off Washington, although most animals likely occurred well offshore. However, many fewer animals were caught by Bay City whalers than off British Columbia during 1911–1925 (see Table 2 in Overexploitation; Pike and MacAskie 1969), suggesting lower abundance off Washington. Japanese whalers also took some sei whales off Washington, all west of 130°W, between 1952 and 1972 (Masaki 1977). Masaki (1977) reported fairly high sighting rates of this species between 45°–50°N and from the coasts of Washington and Vancouver Island west to 140°W from 1965 to 1972. American researchers have not detected the species with certainty within 556 km of the Washington coast during a number of visual and acoustic surveys extending back to late 1950s (Appendix B), confirming the species' recent rarity in Washington waters. A number of sightings, however, were made far to the west of Washington (west of 135°W) from 2010 to 2014 (IWC 2016:447), indicating the potential for sei whale to visit state waters. The only stranding of this species in Washington since 1980 was an animal killed by a ship strike in 2003 and likely carried into the state (Appendix A; NMFS, unpubl. data).

North Pacific right whale. This species was nearly eliminated by whaling and may now be the most endangered large whale in the world. Total population size before harvesting began is unknown, although early whalers found it abundant (Scarff 1991). Numbers were rapidly depleted in the 1840s by intense whaling pressure in both the eastern and western North Pacific (Scarff 1991, 2001, Josephson et al. 2008b). Much lower harvests continued thereafter, culminating in the illegal Soviet taking of 765 individuals primarily in the 1960s that devastated the small, but probably recovering stocks at that time (Brownell et al. 2001, Ivashchenko and Clapham 2012, Thomas et al. 2016). Total harvests during the 19th and 20th centuries likely exceeded 26,500 animals (Scarff 2001).

The Eastern North Pacific stock now numbers only about 30 whales (Marques et al. 2011, Wade et al. 2011b) and is at high risk of extirpation (Brownell et al. 2001, LeDuc et al. 2012), whereas the

western stock holds an estimated 400 animals (Thomas et al. 2016). Population trend of the eastern stock is unknown, but there are no indications of recovery (Muto et al. 2016). Two factors contributing to the poor prognosis for this stock are the very few observations of females with calves in recent years and a sex ratio skewed about 2:1 toward males (Wade et al. 2011b, LeDuc et al. 2012).

The historical status of North Pacific right whales off Washington is unclear, but evidence suggests the species was once a regular, but perhaps rare, visitor before the whaling era. Tribes inhabiting the state's northwest coast were familiar with this whale (Swan 1870, Scheffer and Slipp 1948) and its bones have been recovered in small numbers from Native American archaeological sites in the area (Huelsbeck 1988, 1994). Scammon's (1874) statement that North Pacific right whales were once found "occasionally in large numbers" off Oregon was disputed by Scarff (1986), who cited a lack of supporting evidence from other sources. Josephson et al.'s (2008a) re-evaluation of whaling data compiled in the early 1850s has subsequently revealed an absence of historical captures and sightings by whalers off Washington and nearby areas out to at least 135°W.

Detections are now exceptionally rare along the west coast of North America south of Alaska, with very few records since the early 1900s (Brownell et al. 2001, Ford et al. 2016). Only four confirmed records exist for Washington during this period, the most recent being an acoustic detection near the Quinault Canyon in June 2013 (Appendix A). Several hypothetical records also exist and one or two sightings have been made just outside of Washington's border with British Columbia, including one at Swiftsure Bank in October 2013 (Appendix A). Nearly all of the cetacean surveys in Washington since the 1970s have failed to detect the species (Appendix B). There are no known strandings for the state (Norman et al. 2004; NMFS, unpubl. data).

Sperm whale. Global population size before whaling has been estimated at 1.1 million (95% CI = 672,000–1,512,000) individuals, with numbers declining to roughly 360,000 by 1999 (Whitehead 2002, 2003). Although sperm whaling began in the early 1700s, annual harvests remained relatively low through the end of World War II, then spiked sharply from the 1950s to 1970s, when most of the overall harvest occurred (Whitehead 2002, Smith et al. 2008, Mesnick 2014). The current worldwide population is estimated at 300,000 to 450,000 animals, but trend is unknown (Taylor et al. 2008, Mesnick 2014).

Pre-whaling abundance in the North Pacific is not known, but this species comprised more than half of the region's whale harvest during the 20th century (Rocha 2014). This level of catch, including the capture of many adult females, seriously depleted sperm whale numbers throughout the North Pacific (Ivashchenko et al. 2014). Current abundance in the North Pacific is estimated at roughly 80,000 whales (Ford 2014).

Estimates are lacking of the historical size of the California/Oregon/Washington stock. Large harvests of sperm whales took place along the U.S. west coast, between Hawaii and the U.S. west coast, and off British Columbia between 1908 and 1971 (see Table 2 in Overexploitation; Pike and MacAskie 1969, Ohsumi 1980, Gregr et al. 2000, Gregr and Trites 2001) and undoubtedly depleted the stock. Stock size was last estimated at 2,106 whales (CV = 0.58) based on data from 1991 to 2008, with trend perhaps being stable (Moore and Barlow 2014, Carretta et al. 2016).

Sperm whale abundance off Washington has not been well detailed. Swan (1870:19) remarked that the species was "very rarely" observed by the Makah and only modest numbers were caught by Bay City whalers from 1911 to 1925 (see Table 2 in Overexploitation), both of which suggest a limited presence of sperm whales over Washington's continental shelf during the 1800s and early 1900s. Occurrence was much greater in the deeper oceanic waters west of Washington based on the extensive captures made by Soviet whalers from 1948 to 1979, which mainly took place west of 130°W, but with some harvest also happening between 126°W and 130°W (Mizroch and Rice 2013, Ivashchenko et al. 2014). The large numbers of sperm whales caught off British Columbia further suggest that the species was probably once common off Washington as well.

Small to moderate numbers of sperm whales have been detected during acoustic surveys along and near the continental shelf slope off Washington since 2004 (Appendix A). Calling activity is variable between years, but shows a pattern of increased occurrence from January to May and a peak in June (Appendix A). Because sperm whales call year-round, this seasonal pattern in vocalizations likely reflects actual presence in state waters (K. M. Stafford, pers. comm.). There have been relatively few sightings of sperm whales off Washington since the 1980s and a number of visual surveys have failed to record the species (Appendix A, B). However, most of the surveys sampled shallower shelf and slope waters where sperm whales are less likely to occur. Twelve strandings, all of single animals, have been documented since 1980 (see Table 2 in Ship strikes), including five males, three females, and four of unknown sex. A mass stranding of 41 sperm whales occurred 250 km south of Washington near Florence, Oregon, in June 1979 (Rice et al. 1986).

#### FACTORS AFFECTING CONTINUED EXISTENCE

Adequacy of existing regulatory mechanisms. Stocks of blue, fin, sei, North Pacific right, and sperm whales along western North America have benefited from the protections afforded under a variety of national, international, and state laws. All are protected under the U.S. federal Marine Mammal Protection Act (MMPA), which prevents the taking (defined as harassing, hunting, capturing, killing, or attempting to harass, hunt, capture, or kill) and importation of these animals and products derived from them. The MMPA allows some incidental take during commercial fishing operations and some other circumstances. Under the MMPA, these stocks are considered "depleted" (Table 1) and are designated as "strategic stocks."

All five species were federally listed as endangered in 1970 under the Endangered Species Conservation Act of 1969, which preceded the Endangered Species Act of 1973 (ESA; Table 1). Federal endangered status includes prohibitions on take of listed species similar to those under the MMPA. NMFS has designated critical habitat for only one of the five species, North Pacific right whales, with two areas of Alaskan waters established in 2008.

National marine sanctuary regulations (15 CFR 922 Subpart O, 152(a)), which apply to the Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary off the outer northwest coast of Washington, contain prohibitions on the taking and possessing of any marine mammal in the sanctuary, except as authorized by the MMPA and ESA, or allowed through tribal treaty rights.

Table 1. Conservation status of blue, fin, sei, North Pacific right, and sperm whales under seven listing arrangements.

	Conservation status <sup>1,2</sup>						
Species	WA	ESA	MMPA	COSEWIC	SARA	ВС	IUCN
Blue whale	E	E	Depleted	E <sup>3</sup>	$E^3$	Red List	E
Fin whale	E	E	Depleted	$T^3$	$T^3$	Red List	E
Sei whale	E	E	Depleted	$E^3$	$E^3$	Red List	E
North Pacific right whale	E	E	Depleted	E	E	Red List	CE <sup>4</sup>
Sperm whale	E	E	Depleted	Not at risk	No status	Blue List	V

Listing system abbreviations: WA, Washington Administrative Code (WAC 220-610-010); ESA, U.S. Endangered Species Act; MMPA, U.S. Marine Mammal Protection Act; COSEWIC, Canada's Committee on Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada; SARA, Canada's Species at Risk Act; BC, British Columbia's Wildlife Act; IUCN, International Union for the Conservation of Nature.

Under Washington state law (WAC 220-610-010), all five species were listed as endangered in 1981 (Table 1). This prohibits the hunting, possession, malicious harassment, and killing of these species (RCW 77.15.120). Only blue and sperm whales are considered priority species under WDFW's Priority Habitats and Species (PHS) program, but specific management recommendations for them have not been developed under this program.

Canada's federal Species at Risk Act (SARA) classifies North Pacific right whales and Pacific populations of blue and sei whales as endangered and the Pacific population of fin whales as threatened (Table 1). Under this regulation, the killing, harassment, and possession of these species are prohibited. Sperm whales have not been classified. Critical habitat has not been established under SARA for any of these species.

The IWC has maintained its current international moratorium on commercial whaling of large whales since 1986, although several countries continue to conduct relatively small-scale harvests through objections or reservations to the moratorium or through research programs (see Overharvesting). All five whale species are also listed on Appendix I of the Convention on the International Trade of Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES), which bans international commercial trade in specimens of these species.

Overexploitation. Populations of most large whales were decimated worldwide by large-scale commercial whaling during the 19th and 20th centuries. Despite the end of nearly all hunting by 1980, many populations remain well below their pre-whaling abundance, showing only partial recovery or no recovery at all (Clapham et al. 1999, Roman and Palumbi 2003, Thomas et al. 2016). Whaling efforts focused initially on sperm whales and right whales, then expanded to gray whales, humpback whales, and bowhead whales (Balaena mysticetus), and finally to other rorquals and again sperm whales in response to depletion of populations, improvements in technology, and changing market demand for different whale products (Smith et al. 2012). Despite legal protections instituted for various species or populations between 1935 and 1986, some illegal whaling continued (e.g.,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Status abbreviations: CE, critically endangered; E, endangered; T, threatened; V, vulnerable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Pacific Ocean population.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Eastern North Pacific population.

Ivashchenko et al. 2012) and further impacted the recovery potential of populations. Massive

numbers of whales were killed during the whaling era, with nearly 3 million animals caught during just the 20th century, when whaling reached its peak (Rocha et al. 2014). The impacts of this past harvest continue to the present for many species or individual populations through reduced abundance or reproduction (Thomas et al. 2016).

Intensive harvest of whales pushed a number of whale populations in the eastern North Pacific to the verge of extirpation. Most of the early harvest was centered in California and Alaska,



Figure 6. Processing a sperm whale at the Bay City whaling station at Bay City, Washington, circa 1920. Used with permission from the Jones Photo Historical Collection, Anderson & Middleton Company.

with less focus on Washington and neighboring areas (Scheffer and Slipp 1948). Modern shore-based whaling began in the eastern North Pacific in 1905 and quickly expanded to include a whaling station operated by the American Pacific Whaling Company at Bay City, Washington, from 1911 to 1925 (Figure 6), and six stations in British Columbia, with the last closing in 1967 (Scheffer and Slipp 1948, Crowell 1983, Gregr et al. 2000). More than 27,500 whales were processed at these

stations (Table 2). Catcher vessels from the Bay City facility operated mostly within 220 km of Grays Harbor, thus covering the coasts of Washington and northern Oregon, but sometimes ventured as far as southern Oregon and Vancouver Island (Scheffer and Slipp 1948, Crowell 1983).

Several nations (Japan, Norway, and Iceland) have resumed limited commercial and research whaling operations, and small amounts of aboriginal whaling also continue (IWC 2017). These harvests are not considered a threat for most stocks (Clapham et al. 1999, Thomas et al. 2016) and are not known to affect those discussed in this report.

Table 2. Numbers of whales processed historically at shore whaling stations in Bay City, Washington, and in British Columbia.

	Numbers of whales				
	Washington <sup>a</sup> British Columb				
Species	(1911-1925)	(1908-1967)			
Humpback whale	1,933	5,638			
Fin whale	602	7,605			
Sperm whale	120	6,158			
Sei whale	21	4,002			
Blue whale	13	1,398			
Beaked whale spp.	8	41			
North Pacific right whale	0	8			
Total	2,698	24,850			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Scheffer and Slipp (1948) <sup>b</sup> Gregr et al. (2000)

Ship strikes. Whales swimming or resting near the ocean surface can be vulnerable to injury or death from collisions with ships, especially in areas of frequent vessel traffic such as the U.S. west coast. Ship strikes have become more common in recent decades due to increases in shipping traffic, ship speeds, and whale abundance (Laist et al. 2001). Documented collisions and resulting mortalities undoubtedly represent just a small fraction of those that actually happen (Jensen and Silber 2004, Williams et al. 2011a). For some small whale populations, ship strikes may be frequent enough to slow or prevent recovery (Kraus et al. 2005, Redfern et al. 2013).

Along the west coast of North America, blue and fin whales are among the species most at risk from ship strikes (Calambokidis 2011, Carretta et al. 2016). North Pacific right whales may also be vulnerable based on the high rates of collisions experienced by the similar North Atlantic right whale (Muto et al. 2016). Calambokidis (2011) reported a major increase in the proportion (to about one-third) of strandings of large whales appearing to involve vessel collisions in the Pacific Northwest from 2001 to 2010. Since 1980 in Washington, 15 of the 27 stranding records for the species covered in this report were linked to ship strikes, with fin whales experiencing by far the highest number (Table 3). Sperm whales appear much less affected, possibly because the species' more oceanic range means fewer individuals

Table 3. Numbers of strandings, including those linked to ship strikes, of five whale species in Washington, 1980–2016. Details of individual strandings appear in Appendix A.

	Number of strandings				
	Ship-strike				
Species	relateda	Others	Total		
Blue whale	2	0	2		
Fin whale	10	2	12		
Sei whale	1	0	1		
North Pacific right whale	0	0	0		
Sperm whale	2	10	12		
Total	15	12	27		

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Includes confirmed and likely strikes.

encounter ships or because fewer struck animals wash ashore (Douglas et al. 2008). Some of the strikes listed in this report likely took place outside of Washington, with the whales then carried on the ships' bows into state waters (see Douglas et al. 2008). Along Washington's outer coast, major shipping lanes converge from several directions into the mouths of the Strait of Juan de Fuca and Columbia River, and another follows a north-south route leading to California.

Entanglement in fishing gear and marine debris. A poorly understood, but growing concern is the levels of threat that entanglement poses to whale populations (IWC 2010, Williams et al. 2011b, Reeves et al. 2013). Large whales can become entangled in active drifting or stationary fishing gear (such as gillnets and the vertical lines used to mark trap/pot fisheries) or in discarded netting and other marine debris. Death, injury, or eventual starvation may result when entangled animals fail to free themselves of gear or debris. Risk of entanglement varies with species, the amount of overlap with various fisheries, and the type of gear used in those fisheries. More entanglements occur in coastal and continental shelf waters than in waters farther offshore (Saez et al 2013). In some whale populations, half or more of all individuals show scarring from past entanglements (e.g., Neilson et al. 2009).

Along the U.S. west coast, reports of large whale entanglements averaged 10 per year from 1982 to 2012, then increased to 62 reports in 2015 and 71 reports 2016 (NOAA Fisheries 2017). Actual numbers of entanglements are considered much higher than indicated by these reports. Humpback and gray whales, both of which inhabit more coastal waters, are the species most frequently entangled, with far fewer incidents involving blue, fin, sei, and sperm whales (Saez et al 2013,

Carretta et al. 2016). Most incidents involve trap/pot gear, especially from commercial Dungeness crab fisheries (Saez et al 2013, NOAA Fisheries 2017). Most entanglements have been documented off California, but this is due in part to the greater observer numbers and longer coastline there than in Washington and Oregon. The vulnerability of the eastern stock of North Pacific right whales to entanglement is unknown, but may be high based on multiple reports for the western stock (Burdin et al. 2004, IWC 2010). The right whale seen at the entrance of the Strait of Juan de Fuca in 2013 showed a severe entanglement scar (Ford et al. 2016).

A total of 38 large whale entanglements have been reported in Washington since 1990, with most happening since 2000 (Table 4). Nearly all have involved gray or humpback whales, and more have occurred in outer coastal waters than in the Salish Sea. Of the five species covered in this report, the only confirmed entanglement in the state involved one stranded fin whale (Table 4). However, for the reasons described above, entanglements of these species are probably more frequent than indicated by these data.

Table 4. Numbers of large whale entanglements documented in Washington by species, location, and time period, 1990–2017 (NMFS, unpublished data).

		Loca	tion	Time period			
Species	Total	Outer coast	Salish Sea	1990- 1999	2000- 2009	2010- 2017	
Gray whale	27	19	8	7	14	6	
Humpback whale	10	7	3	0	2	8	
Fin whale	1	1	0	0	1	0	
Total	38	27	11	7	17	14	

To illustrate some of the entanglement opportunity for whales in Washington, a maximum of 78,000 crab pots are deployed annually off the outer coast at the start of the commercial Dungeness crab fishery in December and January (D. Ayres, pers. comm.). Pot numbers decline as the season progresses, falling to 7,300 pots by the end of the fishery on September 15. An estimated 5–10% of the pots are lost each season, although some are subsequently recovered in a program allowing fishers 45 days after the season closes to keep any pots they find. Crab pots are typically set at depths of <183 m within 45 km of shore. Smaller trap/pot fisheries for sablefish, hagfish, and spot prawn, some of which extend to the shelf slope, also occur along the state's outer coast (Ayres 2014). Thus, these fisheries together partially overlap with the habitats of the five whale species covered in this report.

Disturbance from sound and vessels. Marine mammals in all oceans are exposed to increasing levels of underwater sound from vessels, seismic surveys, sonar, marine construction, and other human-related sources (Nowacek et al. 2007, 2015). Marine ambient noise levels at frequencies below 500 Hz, which overlap with the low-frequency calls of baleen whales, have increased by at least 20 dB (re 1 μPa) since pre-industrial conditions (Hildebrand 2009), including along much of the North American west coast (Andrew et al. 2011, Redfern et al. 2017). Large whales rely on their acoustic sensory system for communicating with other individuals, sometimes at distances of hundreds of kilometers, and in the case of sperm whales, for navigating and capturing prey. Significant levels of anthropogenic sound can therefore interfere with these activities by masking

vocalizations (Erbe et al. 2016). Intense sound can also displace animals from occupied areas, produce temporary or permanent hearing damage and physiological stress, and cause changes in surface, foraging, and vocal behavior (e.g., Nowacek et al. 2007, Castellote et al. 2012, Risch et al. 2012, Rolland et al. 2012). Nevertheless, responses by whales can vary depending on localized circumstances, sometimes with no observable reactions recorded. Where sound-related impacts are severe, reproduction and survival of animals may be affected (Clark et al. 2009). Several studies have described anthropogenic sound-related effects on large whales along the U.S. west coast (e.g., Moore and Clarke 2002, Melcón et al. 2012, Goldbogen et al. 2013).

The tremendous growth in whale watching in recent decades has brought increasing concern over disturbance caused to cetaceans, which can result from the physical presence and sound of whale-watching vessels (Parsons 2012, Hoyt and Parsons 2014). For large whales along the outer coasts of Washington, British Columbia, and Oregon, viewing pressure is generally limited to areas near a few ports with whale-watching companies and mainly targets migrating gray whales (O'Connor et al. 2009). Thus, the five species covered in this report likely receive little disturbance from whale watching while in Washington.

Climate change. Global climate change is likely to be one of the greatest threats to many species of marine mammals in the coming decades because of its capacity to alter marine ecosystems and food webs through changes in ocean temperatures, currents, stratification, and nutrient cycling, and by causing higher sea levels and increased occurrence of unusual and extreme ocean conditions such as strong El Niño events (e.g., Doney et al. 2012). Climate change effects on oceans will probably occur unevenly, with some areas affected more severely than others. Large whales will most likely be affected by resulting changes in prey abundance and availability, changes in habitats used for specialized activities such as breeding, and through increased exposure to novel diseases (Simmonds and Eliott 2009). Warmer ocean conditions and altered prey distributions may result in some whale species shifting their ranges to higher latitudes, as already documented for fin whales and several other species, which are expanding from the North Pacific into the Arctic Ocean as summer sea ice coverage retreats (Moore 2016). The ability to move long distances means that some whale populations in large ocean basins such as the North Pacific may be fairly resilient to climate change, at least in the short term (MacLeod 2009, Ramp et al. 2015, Thomas et al. 2016). Nevertheless, negative impacts may well accrue in the future as climate change progresses. For North Pacific right whales, sea ice losses from climate change will likely open major shipping routes through the Bering Sea into the Arctic Ocean, thus bringing greater exposure to human-caused marine noise and ship strikes (NMFS 2013). A related concern, increasing ocean acidification, is currently not considered a future threat to marine mammals off western North America (Marshall et al. 2017).

Small subpopulation size and isolation. The very small size and few remaining females place the Eastern North Pacific stock of North Pacific right whales at high risk of extirpation due to an increased likelihood of inbreeding, loss of genetic variability, difficulty in finding mates, and occurrence of chance events such as demographic fluctuations, ship strikes, and entanglements (LeDuc et al. 2012). This threat may not affect the larger stocks of blue, fin, sei, and sperm whales occurring off the U.S. west coast.

*Environmental contaminants.* Marine mammals are susceptible to a variety of environmental contaminants that bioaccumulate upward through marine food webs. These substances include

organochlorines (e.g., polychlorinated biphenyls [PCBs], dioxins, dichloro-diphenyl trichloroethane [DDT] and its derivatives, and various other pesticides and herbicides), polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), trace metals (e.g., mercury, cadmium, copper), and other established or emerging pollutants (O'Shea 1999, O'Hara and O'Shea 2001). High levels of organochlorines and PBDEs in marine mammals can interfere with reproduction, immune and endocrine function, and gene expression, whereas elevated concentrations of metals can variously produce neurotoxic effects and harm organ function (O'Hara and O'Shea 2001, Buckman et al. 2011, Mongillo et al. 2016). Several factors commonly influence the contaminant loads carried by large whales. These include species habitat preferences (nearshore vs. offshore), trophic level (baleen whales typically carry smaller contaminant loads than toothed whales because of their lower position in food chains), sex (females transfer much of their fat-soluble contaminant burden to their calves during pregnancy and nursing, and thus usually have lower levels than males of the same age), and movement patterns (O'Shea and Brownell 1994, Reijnders et al. 1999).

Few studies have examined contaminant levels in blue, fin, sei, North Pacific right, or sperm whales off western North America (Valdez-Márquez et al. 2004, Niño-Torres et al. 2009, Fossi et al. 2014). However, when combined with results for gray and humpback whales (Krahn et al. 2001, Elfes et al. 2010), most baleen whales in the region appear to possess relatively low contaminant levels that are beneath those associated with health disorders. One exception is the high PAH concentrations of blue whales (Fossi et al. 2014). Sperm whales in the region have been sampled in just one study and found to have higher chemical loads than baleen whales, but substantially lower levels than in Pacific killer whales (*Orcinus orca*), which feed in the highest trophic position (Fossi et al. 2014). North Pacific sperm whales may carry potentially toxic levels of mercury and cadmium, as suggested by studies elsewhere (NMFS 2010b).

Oil spills. At the population level, marine oil spills are generally considered a relatively minor threat for large whales, with few if any harmful impacts reported in the literature. Nevertheless, when exposed to oil, individual whales can experience baleen fouling, ingestion of oil, respiratory distress from inhalation of vapors at the water's surface, and contaminated food sources (Geraci 1990, Takeshita et al. 2017), all of which may produce physiological effects that remain poorly understood. Direct mortality of prey and displacement from feeding areas may also occur. Lingering reproductive and health impacts may result from major spills (Kellar et al. 2017, Smith et al. 2017). The extent of effects depends mainly on the amount and duration of contact that whales have with the oil, and the age and type of oil involved.

As a shipping and oil-refining hub, Washington experienced seven major oil spills ranging from 0.1–2.3 million gallons along the outer coast, the Strait of Juan de Fuca, and the lower Columbia River between 1964 and 1991 (Neel et al. 2007). It is unknown whether any of these harmed large whales. Increased safety measures and prevention programs since the 1990s have helped reduce the number and scale of vessel spills in Washington, where no spills exceeding 100,000 gallons have occurred since 1991 (Etkin and Neel 2001, Neel et al. 2007). However, the sheer volume of shipping traffic (i.e., >6,800 vessel transits in 2016; WSDOE 2017) makes oil spills a persistent threat in the state. Shipping routes for major ports in Seattle, Tacoma, and Vancouver, B.C., as well as several major oil refineries and the third largest naval base in the U.S., all traverse waters used by large whales in Washington. A 2015 risk assessment of oil spills from vessels transiting the Salish Sea and northern outer coast of Washington found that the region remains at risk of a large spill (Van Dorp and

Merrick 2017). Spill risk in Washington's marine habitats is expected to increase substantially in the future as tanker traffic from ports in British Columbia and possibly Washington increases due to expanded oil and natural gas production in the interior of North America.

Harmful algal blooms. Harmful algal blooms, also known as "red tides," result from rapid, temporary increases in local populations of particular dinoflagellates, protists, or other phytoplankton. Two of the most common toxins produced by algal blooms along the west coast of North America are the neurotoxins domoic acid and saxitoxin, both of which can be toxic to marine mammals, especially pinnipeds (Torres de la Riva et al. 2009, Lewitus et al. 2012). Although few known cases of acute algal poisoning have been confirmed among large whales (Fire et al. 2010, Lewitus et al. 2012), there have been increasing reports of both toxins being detected in whales and blooms coinciding with whale mortalities (Lefebvre et al. 2016, Wilson et al. 2016). Harmful algal blooms are projected to become increasingly common in the future with warming ocean conditions (McKibben et al. 2017) and therefore represent a possible emerging concern for large whales.

Competition with fisheries for prey resources. A potential threat to large whales that remains poorly understood is the extent to which food availability is reduced by commercial harvesting of small schooling fish, squid, and krill. The extent of impacts from these fisheries likely depends on many factors, including size of the fishery, the amount of prey biomass remaining after the harvest, and whether the whales are able to switch to alternative prey or foraging areas. Competition with fisheries is currently not considered an important concern in U.S. waters for the whale species discussed in this report (Reeves et al. 1998, NMFS 2010a, 2010b, 2011a, 2013).

#### MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

**Prohibitions on whaling.** Declining whale stocks resulted in the enactment of various international restrictions on whaling beginning in the 1930s and continuing after the founding of the IWC in 1946 (Clapham and Baker 2002, Rocha et al. 2014). However, these agreements often failed to curb the unsustainable harvests of species and populations due to poor management, a lack of enforcement, and illegal hunting. In 1986, an international moratorium on commercial whaling was established by the IWC and remains in effect to the present. This measure represents the primary conservation tool for protecting all large whales despite several countries conducting relatively small-scale harvests through objections or reservations to the moratorium or through research programs.

Ship strikes. NMFS, the International Maritime Organization, and others have implemented various measures to reduce the risk of vessel collisions with whales in specific locations. These include the re-routing of shipping lanes, creation of areas to be avoided by ships, mandatory or voluntary speed restrictions for ships, using ship crew as lookouts for whales, and increasing the awareness of ship crews about whale strikes (Calambokidis 2013, Ritter and Panigada 2014). Several of these actions have been undertaken in areas of California and Alaska, but none have yet been implemented in Washington. NMFS has also expanded its efforts to document ship strikes of all large whales in the eastern North Pacific.

Entanglement in fishing gear and marine debris. NMFS has led national efforts to mitigate the problem of whale entanglements through collaboration with stakeholders (NOAA Fisheries 2017).

This has included modifications to fishing gear and requirements that most types of gear be marked for ownership. Outreach has been directed at commercial and recreational fishing communities to implement recommended gear changes and other best practices for avoiding entanglements. Outreach has also targeted the broader marine community to encourage the prompt reporting of entangled animals and to improve report quality. This together with expanding the response capabilities of permitted organizations and response teams will result in more rescue attempts to disentangle whales. Continuing research and improved documentation of incidents is also underway to inform future management efforts. In Washington, NMFS has held disentanglement training workshops and cached disentanglement equipment at sites in the state. Cascadia Research and other entities have participated in many of the disentanglement attempts made in the state. Various projects to remove derelict crab pots and lines have also been conducted, including ones by the Quileute Nation, Quinault Indian Nation, and The Nature Conservancy along sections of the outer coast (e.g., Antonelis 2014; WDFW, no date).

Recovery planning and review of listing status. U.S. federal recovery plans have been published for blue whales (Reeves et al. 1998), fin whales (NMFS 2010a), sei whales (NMFS 2011a), North Pacific right whales (NMFS 2013), and sperm whales (NMFS 2010b). Canada has also completed federal recovery strategies and an action plan for blue, fin, sei, and North Pacific right whales (Gregr et al. 2006, DFO 2011, 2017). WDFW has not prepared state recovery plans for any of these species.

Four of the five U.S. federal recovery plans for these species (excluding blue whales) contain downlisting and delisting objectives based on quantitative and threat-based criteria at the species level. NMFS has conducted recent 5-year reviews of listing status for fin whales (NMFS 2011b), sei whales (NMFS 2012a), North Pacific right whales (NMFS 2012b), and sperm whales (NMFS 2015a) to determine whether these species met the objectives set forth for downlisting and delisting. In all four cases, federal endangered status was maintained, with a lack of sufficient data on one or more criteria preventing any listing changes.

Reduction of marine noise. There is growing recognition that current levels of human-generated noise in oceans require mitigation to reduce impacts on marine fauna. Implementing noise-reduction actions requires government engagement with industry, the military, and other stakeholders. The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration has recently completed an ocean noise reduction strategy to help address concerns in U.S. waters (NOAA 2016). Existing mitigation actions can include steps to (1) detect and limit impacts to animals (e.g., closing areas to certain technology, avoiding use during specified seasons or times of day, discontinued use if animals are detected, and gradual powering up of equipment to warn animals away) and (2) reducing sound levels at the source (e.g., applying noise abatement measures). One example of mitigation measures are those agreed upon by the U.S. Navy and NMFS for reducing naval training impacts on marine mammals in the Northwest Training and Testing Offshore Area along the Washington, Oregon, and northern California coasts (see NMFS 2015b, p. 73565–73566). Internationally, efforts are underway to design and implement quieting technologies in shipping, oil and gas exploration, and marine construction (IMO 2014, Hatch et al. 2016).

*Monitoring and research.* Ongoing visual and passive acoustic surveys performed by NMFS, Fisheries and Oceans Canada, and partner groups (e.g., Cascadia Research Collective, Scripps

21

May 2017

Institution of Oceanography) have allowed the monitoring of stock size, trend, and distribution of large whales off western North America. The U.S. Navy has funded many recent survey efforts in the U.S. waters of this region. Updated stock assessments are regularly produced from survey results (e.g., Carretta et al. 2016, Muto et al. 2016). NMFS also monitors mortality from entanglement, ship strikes, and other causes. Numerous research projects involving these species have been conducted in recent years or are underway in the region. These include analyses of acoustics, stock structure, life history and ecology, genetics, the extent of different threats, and impacts from past whaling.

Stranding responses. NMFS coordinates responses to strandings of large whales through the West Coast Marine Mammal Stranding Network, which is comprised of cooperating scientific investigators, institutions, organizations, and state and federal agencies. Cascadia Research, WDFW, and other collaborators sample or necropsy many of these animals to determine cause of death, animal condition and health, and other traits. Stranding data are maintained in a national database.

Oil spill prevention and response. State and federal agencies, industry, and other stakeholders continue their efforts to prevent oil spills from occurring in Washington. In 2010, a rescue tug was permanently deployed at Neah Bay with funding provided by the petroleum and shipping industries under a new state law. Presence of the tug greatly reduces the threat of spills associated with impaired vessels and barges in whale habitat near the entrance of the Strait of Juan de Fuca and along a portion of the outer coast. Establishment of an Area to Be Avoided (ATBA) off the northwestern coast encourages large vessels to stay well offshore during transit (WSDOE 2017). Use of single-hull tanker vessels and barges was completely phased out in the U.S. in January 2015 to reduce the risk of spills. Spill response planning, participation in oil spill drills, and outreach are ongoing. Measures to haze killer whales away from spills (NMFS 2012c) could be extended to large whales on a case-by-case basis (D. Noviello, pers. comm.). Improved regulations have been enacted in both the U.S. and Canada to minimize the risk of accidental spills.

Management of prey resources. Pelagic fisheries for sardines and anchovies off the U.S. west coast are managed by the Pacific Fishery Management Council with a priority for maintaining their ecosystem functions, primarily as a food source for marine mammals, seabirds, salmon, and other predators (PFMC 2011). The Council has banned the commercial harvest of krill along the U.S. west coast since 2006, whereas British Columbia allows a limited harvest of 500 tons per year in its waters. Squid are not commercially harvested off Washington.

#### CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION

Blue, fin, sei, North Pacific right, and sperm whales have not had their Washington listing statuses formally reviewed since they were state listed as endangered in 1981. Current stocks of these whales along the U.S. west coast or in the eastern North Pacific differ in size and trend. Stocks of blue and sperm whales are estimated to number about 1,600 and 2,100 whales, respectively, with possibly stable trends, whereas the fin whale stock holds about 9,000 animals and has strongly increased in recent decades. Sei and North Pacific right whales, both rarely recorded in Washington waters, have current estimated stock sizes of about 500 and 30 animals, respectively, and unknown trends.

However, there is no evidence of recovery in the North Pacific right whale population, and its stock is on the verge of extirpation.

All five species were heavily harvested in the eastern North Pacific during the whaling era. Historical stock size of blue whales has been estimated at about 2,200 individuals, thus current abundance remains below past levels of this stock. Historical stock size is unknown for fin whales, making it difficult to judge whether current numbers are approaching historical abundance. Estimates of historical stock sizes are also not available for sei and sperm whales, but current numbers of both species probably remain depleted. North Pacific right whales were once numerous and are clearly far below their pre-whaling stock size.

The stocks of all five species face possibly significant and increasing threats from one or more factors, such as ship strikes, entanglement in fishing gear and marine debris, human-generated marine sound, climate change, and in the case of North Pacific right whales, issues related to small population size. Recent federal reviews of listing status have been conducted for fin, sei, North Pacific right, and sperm whales, and have maintained federal endangered status for all four species. Blue whales also remain federally listed as endangered. With these considerations in mind, it is recommended that blue, fin, sei, North Pacific right, and sperm whales remain listed as state endangered species in Washington.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Adams, J., J. J. Felis, J. W. Mason, and J. Y. Takekawa. 2014. Pacific continental shelf environmental assessment (PaCSEA): aerial seabird and marine mammal surveys off northern California, Oregon, and Washington, 2011–2012. OCS Study BOEM 2014–003, Pacific OCS Region, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, U.S. Department of the Interior, Camarillo, California.
- Aguilar, A. 2002. Fin whale *Balaenoptera physalus*. Pages 435–438 in W. F. Perrin, B. Würsig, and J. G. M. Thewissen, editors. Encyclopedia of marine mammals. Academic Press, San Diego, California.
- Alexander, A., D. Steel, K. Hoekzema, S. L. Mesnick, D. Engelhaupt, I. Kerr, R. Payne, and C. S. Baker. 2016. What influences the worldwide genetic structure of sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*)? Molecular Ecology 25:2754–2772.
- Andrew, R. K., B. M. Howe, and J. A. Mercer. 2011. Long-time trends in ship traffic noise for four sites off the North American west coast. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 129:642–651.
- Anonymous. 2003. Dead whale intrigues scientists. Seattle Post-Intelligencer September 16, 2003. http://www.seattlepi.com/news/article/Dead-whale-intrigues-scientists-1124459.php Accessed 18 November 2016.
- Antonelis, K. 2014. Quinault Indian Nation and The Nature Conservancy efforts to address derelict crab pots on the Washington coast. Pages 19–21 *in* U.S. west coast large whale entanglement information sharing workshop report, November 13–14, 2013, Portland, Oregon. National Marine Fisheries Service, Portland, Oregon.
- Aoki, K., M. Amano, M. Yoshioka, K. Mori, D. Tokuda, and N. Miyazaki. 2007. Diel diving behavior of sperm whales off Japan. Marine Ecology Progress Series 349:277–287.
- Appler J., J. Barlow, and S. Rankin. 2004. Marine mammal data collected during the Oregon, California and Washington line–transect expedition (ORCAWALE) conducted aboard the NOAA ships *McArthur* and *David Starr Jordan*, July December 2001. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS–SWFSC–359, Southwest Fisheries Science Center, La Jolla, California.
- Archer, F. I., P. A. Morin, B. L. Hancock-Hanser, K. M. Robertson, M. S. Leslie, M. Bérubé, S. Panigada, and B. L. Taylor. 2013. Mitogenomic phylogenetics of fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus* spp.): genetic evidence for revision of subspecies. PLoS ONE 8(5): e63396.
- Ayres, D. 2014. Washington fixed gear fisheries. Pages 17–19 in U.S. west coast large whale entanglement

- information sharing workshop report, November 13–14, 2013, Portland, Oregon. National Marine Fisheries Service, Portland, Oregon.
- Bailey, H., B. R. Mate, D. M. Palacios, L. Irvine, S. J. Bograd, and D. P. Costa. 2009. Behavioural estimation of blue whale movements in the Northeast Pacific from state-space model analysis of satellite tracks. Endangered Species Research 10:93–106.
- Barlow, J. 2010. Cetacean abundance in the California Current from a 2008 ship-based line-transect survey. NOAA Technical Memorandum NOAA-TM-NMFS-SWFSC-456, Southwest Fisheries Science Center, La Jolla, California.
- Barlow, J. 2016. Cetacean abundance in the California Current estimated from ship-based line-transect surveys in 1991-2014. NOAA Fisheries Administrative Report LJ-16-01, Southwest Fisheries Science Center, La Jolla, California.
- Barlow, J. and K. A. Forney. 2007. Abundance and population density of cetaceans in the California Current ecosystem. Fishery Bulletin 105:509–526.
- Baumgartner, M. F. and D. M. Fratantoni. 2008. Diel periodicity in both sei whale vocalization rates and the vertical migration of their copepod prey observed from ocean gliders. Limnology and Oceanography 53:2197–2209.
- Baumgartner, M. F., N. S. J. Lysiak, H. C. Esch, A. N. Zerbini, C. L. Berchok, and P. J. Clapham. 2013. Associations between North Pacific right whales and their zooplanktonic prey in the southeastern Bering Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 490:267–284.
- Branch, T. A., K. Matsuoka, and T. Miyashita. 2004. Evidence for increases in Antarctic blue whales based on Bayesian modelling. Marine Mammal Science 20:726–754.
- Brownell, Jr., R. L., P. J. Clapham, T. Miyashita, and T. Kasuya. 2001. Conservation status of North Pacific right whales. Journal of Cetacean Research Management Special Issue 2:269–286.
- Buckman, A. H., N. Veldhoen, G. Ellis, J. K. B. Ford, C. C. Helbing, and P. S. Ross. 2011. PCBassociated changes in mRNA expression in killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) from the NE Pacific Ocean. Environmental Science & Technology 45:10194–10202.
- Burdin, A. M., V. S.Nikulin, and R. L. Brownell, Jr. 2004. Cases of entanglement of western North-Pacific right whales (*Eubalaena japonica*) in fishing gear: serious threat for species survival. Pages 95–97 *in* V. M. Belkovich, editor. Marine mammals of the Holarctic. KMK Scientific Press,

- Moscow, Russia.
- http://www.2mn.org/engl/bookshelf\_en/mmh3 book\_en.htm Accessed 21 February, 2017.
- Burtenshaw, J. C., E. M. Oleson, J. A. Hildebrand, M. A. McDonald, R. K. Andrew, B. M. Howe, and J. A. Mercer. 2004. Acoustic and satellite remote sensing of blue whale seasonality and habitat in the Northeast Pacific. Deep Sea Research II 51:967–986.
- Calambokidis, J. 2006. Preliminary results of examination of fin whale conducted 16 May 2006, Lummi Nation. Cascadia Research, Olympia, Washington.
  - http://www.cascadiaresearch.org/reports/Fin%20 whale-2006.htm Accessed 30 November 2016.
- Calambokidis, J. 2011. Ship strikes of whales off the U.S. west coast. Spyhopper 2011(June):1–7.
- Calambokidis, J. 2013. New developments dealing with ship strikes of whales off the U.S. west coast. Spyhopper 2013(June):1–5.
- Calambokidis, J. and R. W. Baird. 1994. Status of marine mammals in the Strait of Georgia, Puget Sound and the Juan de Fuca Strait and potential human impacts. Pages 282–303 in R. C. H. Wilson, R. J. Beamish, F. Aitkens, and J. Bell, editors. Review of the marine environment and biota of Strait of Georgia, Puget Sound and the Juan de Fuca Strait: proceedings of the BC/Washington symposium on the marine environment, January 13 & 14, 1994. Canadian Technical Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 1948:1–390.
- Calambokidis, J. and J. Barlow. 2013. Updated abundance estimates of blue and humpback whales off the US west coast incorporating photo-identifications from 2010 and 2011. Document PSRG-2013-13R, final report to the Pacific Scientific Review Group for Contract AB-133F-10-RP-0106, Southwest Fisheries Science Center, La Jolla, California.
- Calambokidis, J., G. H. Steiger, D. K. Ellifrit, B. L. Troutman, and C. E. Bowlby. 2004. Distribution and abundance of humpback whales and other marine mammals off the northern Washington coast. Fisheries Bulletin 102:563–580.
- Calambokidis, J., A. Douglas, E. Falcone, and L. Schlender. 2007. Abundance of blue whales off the US west coast using photo identification. Cascadia Research, Olympia, Washington.
- Calambokidis, J., J. Barlow, J. K. B. Ford, T. E. Chandler, and A. B. Douglas. 2009. Insights into the population structure of blue whales in the eastern North Pacific from recent sightings and photographic identifications. Marine Mammal Science 25:816–832.

- Calambokidis, J., G. H. Steiger, C. Curtice, J. Harrison, M. C. Ferguson, M. E. Becker, M. DeAngelis, and S. M. Van Parijs. 2015. Biologically important areas for selected cetaceans within U.S. waters west coast region. Aquatic Mammals 41:39–53.
- Campbell, G. S., L. Thomas, K. Whitaker, A. B.
  Douglas, J. Calambokidis, and J. A. Hildebrand.
  2015. Inter-annual and seasonal trends in cetacean distribution, density and abundance off southern
  California. Deep-Sea Research II 112:143–157.
- Carretta, J. V., S. M. Wilkin, M. M. Muto, and K. Wilkinson. 2013. Sources of human-related injury and mortality for U.S. Pacific west coast marine mammal stock assessments, 2007–2011. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-SWFSC-514, Southwest Fisheries Science Center, La Jolla, California.
- Carretta, J. V., E. Oleson, J. Baker, D. W. Weller, A. R. Lang, et al. 2016. U.S. Pacific marine mammal stock assessments: 2015. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-SWFSC-561, Southwest Fisheries Science Center, La Jolla, California.
- Carretta, J. V., K. A. Forney, E. M. Oleson, D. W. Weller, A. R. Lang, et al. in prep. U.S. Pacific marine mammal stock assessments: 2016. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-SWFSC-xxx, Southwest Fisheries Science Center, La Jolla, California.
- Cascadia Research. 2011. Record number of blue whales sighted off Washington coast. Cascadia Research, Olympia, Washington. <a href="http://www.cascadiaresearch.org/BlueWhaleWA-2011.htm">http://www.cascadiaresearch.org/BlueWhaleWA-2011.htm</a> Accessed on 30 November 2016.
- Cascadia Research. 2013a. Dead fin whale in Burien 13 April 2013. Cascadia Research, Olympia, Washington. http://www.cascadiaresearch.org/Burien%20fin%20whale%20-%2013%20April%202013.htm Accessed on 30 November 2016.
- Cascadia Research. 2013b. Dead fin whale washes up at Ocean City June 2013. Cascadia Research, Olympia, Washington. <a href="http://www.cascadiaresearch.org/Dead%20fin%20whale%20Ocean%20City%20-%20June%202013.htm">http://www.cascadiaresearch.org/Dead%20fin%20whale%20Ocean%20City%20-%20June%202013.htm</a> Accessed on 30 November 2016.
- Castellote, M., C. W. Clark, and M. O. Lammers. 2012. Acoustic and behavioural changes by fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) in response to shipping and airgun noise. Biological Conservation 147:115–122.
- Churchill, M., A. Berta, and T. Deméré. 2011. The systematics of right whales (Mysticeti: Balaenidae). Marine Mammal Science 28:497–521.

- Clapham, P. J. and C. S. Baker. 2002. Whaling, modern.
   Pages 1328–1332 in W. F. Perrin, B. Würsig, and J.
   G. M. Thewissen, editors. Encyclopedia of marine mammals. Academic Press, San Diego, California.
- Clapham, P. J., S. B. Young, and R. L. Brownell, Jr. 1999. Baleen whales: conservation issues and the status of the most endangered populations.

  Mammal Review 29:35–60.
- Clapham, P. J., C. Good, S. E. Quinn, R. R. Reeves, J. E. Scarff, and R. L. Brownell, Jr. 2004. Distribution of North Pacific right whales (*Eubalaena japonica*) as shown by 19th and 20th century whaling catch and sighting records. Journal of Cetacean Research and Management 6:1–6.
- Clark, C. W., W. T. Ellison, B. L. Southall, L. Hatch, S. VanParijs, A. Frankel, and D. Ponirakis. 2009. Acoustic masking in marine ecosystems: intuitions, analysis, and implications. Marine Ecology Progress Series 395:201–222.
- Collins, J. W. 1892. Report on the fisheries of the Pacific Coast of the United States. Pages 3–269 in Report of the Commissioner for 1888. U.S. Commission of Fish and Fisheries, Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- Committee on Taxonomy. 2016. List of marine mammal species and subspecies. Society for Marine Mammalogy.

  <a href="https://www.marinemammalscience.org/species-information/list-marine-mammal-species-subspecies/">https://www.marinemammalscience.org/species-information/list-marine-mammal-species-subspecies/</a> Accessed 7 October 2016.
- COSEWIC. 2002. COSEWIC assessment and update status report on the blue whale *Balaenoptera musculus* in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada, Ottawa, Ontario.
- COSEWIC. 2003. COSEWIC assessment and status report on the sei whale *Balaenoptera borealis* in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada, Ottawa, Ontario.
- Crowell, S. A. 1983. Whaling off the Washington coast. Washington Print, Hoquiam, Washington.
- Cummings, W. C. 1985. Right whales *Eubalaena glacialis* (Muller, 1776) and *Eubalaena australis* (Desmoulins, 1822). Pages 275–304 *in* S. H. Ridgway and R. Harrison, editors. Handbook of marine mammals, Vol. 3. The sirenians and baleen whales. Academic Press, London, United Kingdom.
- Danner, E. M., M. J. Kauffman, and R. L. Brownell, Jr. 2006. Industrial whaling in the North Pacific Ocean: spatial patterns of harvest and decline. Pages 134–144 *in* J. A. Estes, D. P. DeMaster, D. F. Doak, T. M. Williams, and R. L. Brownell, Jr., editors. Whales, whaling, and ocean ecosystems. University of California Press, Berkeley, California.
- Davis, R. W., N. Jaquet, D. Gendron, U. Markaida, G. Bazzino, and W. Gilly. 2007. Diving behavior of

- sperm whales in relation to behavior of a major prey species, the jumbo squid, in the Gulf of California, Mexico. Marine Ecology Progress Series 333:291–302.
- Debich, A. J., S. Baumann-Pickering, A. Širović, J. A. Hildebrand, A. L. Alldredge, et al. 2014. Passive acoustic monitoring for marine mammals in the Northwest Training Range Complex 2012–2013.
  Marine Physical Laboratory Technical Memorandum 548, Scripps Institution of Oceanography, La Jolla, California.
- Deméré, T. A. 2014. Family Balaenopteridae (rorquals). Pages 242–299 in D. E. Wilson and R. A. Mittermeier, editors. Handbook of the mammals of the world. Volume 4. Sea mammals. Lynx Edicions, Barcelona, Spain.
- DFO (Fisheries and Oceans Canada). 2011. Recovery strategy for the North Pacific right whale (*Eubalaena japonica*) in Pacific Canadian waters. Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Ottawa, Ontario.
- DFO (Fisheries and Oceans Canada). 2017. Action plan for blue, fin, sei and North Pacific right whales (*Balaenoptera musculus, B. physalus, B. borealis,* and *Eubalaena japonica*) in Canadian Pacific waters. Species at Risk Act Action Plan Series, Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Ottawa, Ontario.
- Doney, S. C., M. Ruckelshaus, J. E. Duffy, J. P. Barry, F. Chan, et al. 2012. Climate change impacts on marine ecosystems. Annual Review of Marine Science 4:11–37.
- Doniol-Valcroze, T., V. Lesage, J. Giard, and R. Michaud. 2011. Optimal foraging theory predicts diving and feeding strategies of the largest marine predator. Behavioral Ecology 22:880–888.
- Douglas, A. B., J. Calambokidis, S. Raverty, S. J. Jeffries, D. M. Lambourn, and S. A. Norman. 2008. Incidence of ship strikes of large whales in Washington state. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 88:1121–1132.
- Edwards, E. F., C. Hall, T. J. Moore, C. Sheredy, and J. V. Redfern. 2015. Global distribution of fin whales *Balaenoptera physalus* in the post-whaling era (1980-2012). Mammal Review 45:197–214.
- Elfes, C. T., G. R. VanBlaricom, D. Boyd, J. Calambokidis, P. J. Clapham, et al. 2010. Geographic variation of persistent organic pollutant levels in humpback whale (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) feeding areas of the North Pacific and North Atlantic. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 29:824–834.
- Erbe, C., C. Reichmuth, K. Cunningham, K. Lucke, and R. Dooling. 2016. Communication masking in marine mammals: a review and research strategy.

  Marine Pollution Bulletin 103:15–38.

- Etkin, D. S. and J. Neel. 2001. Investing in spill prevention has it reduced vessel spills and accidents in Washington state? Pages 47–56 in Proceedings of 2001 International Oil Spill Conference. American Petroleum Institute, Washington, D.C.
- Evans, P. G. H. 1987. The natural history of whales and dolphins. Facts on File, New York, New York.
- Everitt, R. D., C. H. Fiscus, and R. L. DeLong. 1980. Northern Puget Sound marine mammals. Report EPA-600/7-80-139, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C.
- Fais, A., M. Johnson, M. Wilson, N. Aguilar Soto, and P. T. Madsen. 2016. Sperm whale predator-prey interactions involve chasing and buzzing, but no acoustic stunning. Scientific Reports 6:28562 doi: 10.1038/srep28562
- Fiedler, P. C., S. B. Reilly, R. P. Hewitt, D. Demer, V.
  A. Philbrick, S. Smith, W. Armstrong, D. A. Croll,
  B. R. Tershy, and B. R. Mate. 1998. Blue whale
  habitat and prey in the California Channel Islands.
  Deep-Sea Research II 45:1781–1801.
- Fire, S. E., Z. H. Wang, M. Berman, G. W. Langlois, S. L. Morton, E. Sekula-Wood, and C. R. Benitez-Nelson. 2010. Trophic transfer of the harmful algal toxin domoic acid as a cause of death in a minke whale (*Balaenoptera acutorostrata*) stranding in southern California. Aquatic Mammals 36:342–350.
- Fiscus, C. H. and K. Niggol. 1965. Observations of cetaceans off California, Oregon, and Washington. Special Scientific Report–Fisheries No. 498, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Washington, D.C.
- Fiscus, C. H., D. W. Rice, and A. A. Wolman. 1989. Cephalopods from the stomachs of sperm whales taken off California. NOAA Technical Report NMFS 83, U.S. Department of Commerce, Washington, D.C.
- Flinn, R. D., A. W. Trites, E. J. Gregr, and R. I. Perry. 2002. Diets of fin, sei, and sperm whales in British Columbia: an analysis of commercial whaling records, 1963–1967. Marine Mammal Science 18:663–679.
- Ford, J. K. B. 2014. Marine mammals of British Columbia. Royal BC Museum Handbook, Mammals of BC, Vol. 6. Royal BC Museum, Victoria, British Columbia.
- Ford, J. K. B., J. F. Pilkington, B. Gisborne, T. R. Frasier, R. M. Abernethy, and G. M. Ellis. 2016. Recent observations of critically endangered North Pacific right whales (*Eubalaena japonica*) off the west coast of Canada. Marine Biodiversity Records 9:50. doi:10.1186/s41200-016-0036-3.
- Forney, K. A. 2007. Preliminary estimates of cetacean abundance along the U.S. west coast and within

- four national marine sanctuaries during 2005. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-SWFSC-406, Southwest Fisheries Science Center, La Jolla, California.
- Forney, K. A. and E. Bowlby. 2005. CSCAPE 2005: NOAA ship *McArthur II*, weekly science report Leg 1a, 09 June 13 June 2005. Southwest Fisheries Science Center, La Jolla, California. <a href="https://swfsc.noaa.gov/textblock.aspx?Division=PRD&ParentMenuId=258&id=1472">https://swfsc.noaa.gov/textblock.aspx?Division=PRD&ParentMenuId=258&id=1472</a> Accessed 7 April 2017.
- Fossi, M. C., C. Panti, L. Marsili, S. Maltese, D. Coppola, et al. 2014. Could feeding habit and migratory behaviour be the causes of different toxicological hazard to cetaceans of Gulf of California (Mexico)? Environmental Science and Pollution Research 21:13353–13366.
- Friedlaender, A. S., J. A. Goldbogen, E. L. Hazen, J. Calambokidis, and B. L. Southall. 2015. Feeding performance by sympatric blue and fin whales exploiting a common prey resource. Marine Mammal Science 31:345–354.
- Gaines, C. A., M. P. Hare, S. E. Beck, and H. C. Rosenbaum. 2005. Nuclear markers confirm taxonomic status and relationships among highly endangered and closely related right whale species. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 272:533–542.
- Gambell, R. 1976. World whale stocks. Mammal Review 6:41–53.
- Gambell, R. 1979. The blue whale. Biologist 26:209–215.
- Gendron, D., S. Lanham, and M. Carwardine. 1999. North Pacific right whale (*Eubalaena glacialis*) sighting south of California. Aquatic Mammals 25:31–34.
- Geraci, J. R. 1990. Physiological and toxic effects on cetaceans. Pages 167–197 *in* J. R. Geraci and D. J. St. Aubin, editors. Sea mammals and oil: confronting the risks. Academic Press, New York, New York.
- Gero, S., M. Milligan, C. Rinaldi, P. Francis, J. Gordon, et al. 2014. Behavior and social structure of the sperm whales of Dominica, West Indies. Marine Mammal Science 30:905–922.
- Gero, S., J. Gordon, and H. Whitehead. 2015. Individualized social preferences and long-term social fidelity between social units of sperm whales. Animal Behaviour 102:15–23.
- Goldbogen, J. A., N. D. Pyenson, and R. E. Shadwick. 2007. Big gulps require high drag for fin whale lunge feeding. Marine Ecology Progress Series 349:289–301.
- Goldbogen, J. A., J. Calambokidis, E. Oleson, J. Potvin, N. D. Pyenson, G. Schorr, and R. E. Shadwick.

- 2011. Mechanics, hydrodynamics and energetics of blue whale lunge feeding: efficiency dependence on krill density. Journal of Experimental Biology 214:131–146.
- Goldbogen, J. A., J. Calambokidis, A. S. Friedlaender, J. Francis, S. L. DeRuiter, A. K. Stimpert, E. Falcone, and B. L. Southall. 2012. Underwater acrobatics by the world's largest predator: 360° rolling manoeuvres by lunge-feeding blue whales. Biology Letters 9:20120986.
- Goldbogen, J. A., B. L. Southall, S. L. DeRuiter, J. Calambokidis, A. S. Friedlaender, et al. 2013. Blue whales respond to simulated mid-frequency military sonar. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 280:20130657.
- Goldbogen, J. A., E. L. Hazen, A. S. Friedlaender, J. Calambokidis, S. L. DeRuiter, A. K. Stimpert, and B. L. Southall. 2015. Prey density and distribution drive the three-dimensional foraging strategies of the largest filter feeder. Functional Ecology 29:951–961.
- Green, G. A., J. J. Brueggeman, R. A. Grotefendt, C. E. Bowlby, M. L. Bonnell, and K. C. Balcomb, III. 1992. Cetacean distribution and abundance off Oregon and Washington. Pages 1–1 to 1–100 in J. J. Brueggeman, editor. Oregon and Washington marine mammal and seabird surveys. Pacific OCS Region, Minerals Management Service, U.S. Department of the Interior, Los Angeles, California.
- Gregr, E. J. 2011. Insights into North Pacific right whale *Eubalaena japonica* habitat from historic whaling records. Endangered Species Research 15:223–239.
- Gregr, E. J. and K. O. Coyle. 2009. The biogeography of the North Pacific right whale (*Eubalaena japonica*). Progress in Oceanography 80:188–198.
- Gregr, E. J. and A. W. Trites. 2001. Predictions for critical habitat for five whale species in the waters of coastal British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 58:1265–1285.
- Gregr, E. J., L. Nichol, J. K. B. Ford, G. Ellis, and A.W. Trites. 2000. Migration and population structure of northeastern Pacific whales off coastal British Columbia: an analysis of commercial whaling records from 1908–1967. Marine Mammal Science 16:699–727.
- Gregr, E. J., J. Calambokidis, L. Convey, J. K. B. Ford, R. I. Perry, L. Spaven, and M. Zacharias. 2006. Recovery strategy for blue, fin, and sei whales (Balaenoptera musculus, B. physalus, and B. borealis) in Pacific Canadian waters. Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Vancouver, British Columbia.
- Haldane, R. C. 1909. Whaling in Scotland for 1908. Annals of Scottish Natural History 70:65–69.

- Hanson, M. B., D. P. Noren, T. F. Norris, C. K.
  Emmons, T. J. Guy, and J. E. Zamon. 2008a.
  Pacific Ocean killer whale and other cetaceans distribution survey, March 2006 (PODs 2006) conducted aboard the NOAA ship McArthur II.
  Northwest Fisheries Science Center, Seattle, Washington.
- Hanson, M. B., D. P. Noren, T. F. Norris, C. K.
  Emmons, M. M. Holt, T. J. Guy, and J. E. Zamon.
  2008b. Pacific Ocean killer whale and other cetaceans distribution survey, May 2007 (PODS 2007) conducted aboard the NOAA ship McArthur II. Northwest Fisheries Science Center. Seattle, Washington.
- Hanson, M. B., D. P. Noren, T. F. Norris, C. K.
  Emmons, M. M. Holt, E. Phillips, and J. E.
  Zamon. 2009. Pacific orca distribution survey
  (PODS) conducted aboard the NOAA ship
  McArthur II in March 2008. Northwest Fisheries
  Science Center, Seattle, Washington.
- Hanson, M. B., D. P. Noren, T. F. Norris, C. K.
  Emmons, M. M. Holt, E. Phillips, J. E. Zamon,
  and J. E. Menkel. 2010. Pacific orca distribution
  survey (PODS) conducted aboard the NOAA ship
  McArthur II in March-April 2009. Northwest
  Fisheries Science Center. Seattle, Washington.
- Harvey, J. T., T. Friend, and E. A. McHuron. 2014. Cephalopod remains from stomachs of sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) that mass-stranded along the Oregon coast. Marine Mammal Science 30:609–625.
- Hatch, L. T., C. M. Wahle, J. Gedamke, J. Harrison, B. Laws, S. E. Moore, J. H. Stadler, and S. M. Van Parijs. 2016. Can you hear me here? Managing acoustic habitat in US waters. Endangered Species Research 30:171–186.
- Hildebrand, J. A. 2009. Anthropogenic and natural sources of ambient noise in the ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series 395:5–20.
- Horwood, J. 1987. The sei whale: population biology, ecology and management. Croom Helm, London, United Kingdom.
- Horwood, J. 2002. Sei whale, *Balaenoptera borealis*. Pages 1069-1071 in W. F. Perrin, B. Würsig, and J. G. M. Thewissen, editors. Encyclopedia of marine mammals. Academic Press, San Diego, California.
- Hoyt, E. and E. C. M. Parsons. 2014. The whale-watching industry: historical development. Pages 57–70 *in* J. Higham, L. Bejder, and R. Williams, editors. Whale-watching: sustainable tourism and ecological management. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Huelsbeck, D. R. 1988. Whaling in the precontact economy of the central Northwest coast. Arctic Anthropology 25:1–15.

- Huelsbeck, D. R. 1994. The utilization of whales at Ozette. Pages 265–303 in S. R. Samuels, editor. Ozette archaeological project research reports, Volume II, fauna. Reports of Investigations 66, Department of Anthropology, Washington State University, Pullman, Washington, and National Park Service, Seattle, Washington.
- Huggins, J. and D. Lambourn. 2009. Examination of a dead fin whale found at the Port of Tacoma, August 8, 2009. Cascadia Research, Olympia, Washington.
  <a href="http://www.cascadiaresearch.org/Fin%20Whale%20Exam%20Aug%202009.htm">http://www.cascadiaresearch.org/Fin%20Whale%20Exam%20Aug%202009.htm</a> Accessed on 30 November 2016.
- IMO (International Maritime Organization). 2014.
  Marine Environmental Protection Committee annex: guidelines for the reduction of underwater noise from commercial shipping. MEPC Circular 66/17, International Maritime Organization, London, United Kindom.
- Irvine, L. M., B. R. Mate, M. H. Winsor, D. M. Palacios, S. J. Bograd, D. P. Costa, and H. Bailey. 2014. Spatial and temporal occurrence of blue whales off the U.S. west coast, with implications for management. PLoS ONE 9(7):e102959.
- Ivashchenko, Y. V. and P. J. Clapham. 2012. Soviet catches of right whales *Eubalaena japonica* and bowhead *Balaena mysticetus* in the North Pacific and Okhotsk Sea. Endangered Species Research 18:201–217.
- Ivashchenko, Y. V., P. Clapham, and R. L. Brownell, Jr. 2013. Soviet catches of whales in the North Pacific: revised totals. Journal of Cetacean Research and Management 13:59–71.
- Ivashchenko, Y. V., R. L. Brownell, Jr., and P. J. Clapham. 2014. Distribution of Soviet catches of sperm whales *Physeter macrocephalus* in the North Pacific. Endangered Species Research 25:249–263.
- IWC (International Whaling Commission). 2010.
  Report of the workshop on welfare issues associated with the entanglement of large whales.
  Report IWC/62/15, International Whaling Commission, Impington, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- IWC (International Whaling Commission). 2016. Report of the Scientific Committee. Journal of Cetacean Research and Management 17(Supplement):1–609.
- IWC (International Whaling Commission). 2017. Catch limits & catches taken. International Whaling Commission, Impington, Cambridge, United Kingdom. <a href="https://iwc.int/catches">https://iwc.int/catches</a> Accessed on 2 February 2017.
- Jaquet, N. and D. Gendron. 2009. The social organization of sperm whales in the Gulf of

- California and comparisons with other populations. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 89:975–983.
- Jefferson, T. A., M. A. Webber, and R. L. Pitman. 2008. Marine mammals of the world: a comprehensive guide to their identification. Academic Press, London, United Kingdom.
- Jeffries, S. 2012. Research to support the recovery and management of ESA listed large whales off Washington and Oregon, 1 July 2011 to 31 December 2011. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Lakewood, Washington.
- Jeffries, S., J. Calambokidis, A. B. Douglas, E. A. Falcone, and G. S. Schorr. 2012. Research to support the recovery and management of ESA listed large whales off Washington and Oregon, 1 January 2012 to 30 June 2012. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Lakewood, Washington.
- Jeffries, S., J. Calambokidis, A. B. Douglas, E. A. Falcone, and G. S. Schorr. 2013a. Research to support the recovery and management of ESA listed large whales off Washington and Oregon, 1 July 2012 to 31 December 2012. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Lakewood, Washington.
- Jeffries, S., J. Calambokidis, A. B. Douglas, E. A. Falcone, and G. S. Schorr. 2013b. Research to support the recovery and management of ESA listed large whales off Washington and Oregon, 1 January 2013 to 30 June 2013. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Lakewood, Washington.
- Jensen, A. S. and G. K. Silber. 2004. Large whale ship strike database. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-OPR-25, National Marine Fisheries Service, Silver Spring, Maryland.
- Josephson, E., T. D. Smith, and R. R. Reeves. 2008a. Historical distribution of right whales in the North Pacific. Fish and Fisheries 9:155–168.
- Josephson, E. A., T. D. Smith, and R. R. Reeves. 2008b. Depletion within a decade: the American 19th-century North Pacific right whale fishery. Pages 133–147 in D. J. Starkey, P. Holm, and M. Bernard, editors. Oceans past: management insights from the history of marine animal populations. Earthscan, London, United Kingdom.
- Kellar N. M., T. R. Speakman, C. R. Smith, S. M. Lane, B. C. Balmer, et al. 2017. Low reproductive success rates of common bottlenose dolphins *Tursiops truncatus* in the northern Gulf of Mexico following the Deepwater Horizon disaster (2010–2015). Endangered Species Research 33:143–158.

- Kenney, R. D. 2002. North Atlantic, North Pacific, and southern right whales, *Eubalaena glacialis*, *E. japonica*, and *E. australis*. Pages 806–813 in W. F. Perrin, B. Würsig, and J. G. M. Thewissen, editors. Encyclopedia of marine mammals. Academic Press, San Diego, California.
- Kerosky, S. M., S. Baumann-Pickering, A. Śirović, J. S. Buccowich, A. J. Debich, et al. 2013. Passive acoustic monitoring for marine mammals in the Northwest Training Range Complex 2011–2012.
  Marine Physical Laboratory Technical Memorandum 542, Scripps Institution of Oceanography, La Jolla, California.
- Kracker, L. and C. Menza. 2015. An evaluation of marine mammal surveys to support Washington state's marine spatial planning process. NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS NCCOS 195, National Centers for Coastal Ocean Science, Silver Spring, Maryland.
- Krahn, M. M., G. M. Ylitalo, D. G. Burrows, J. Calambokidis, S. E. Moore, et al. 2001. Organochlorine contaminant concentrations and lipid profiles in eastern North Pacific gray whales (Eschrichtius robustus). Journal of Cetacean Research and Management 3:19–29.
- Kraus, S. D., M. W. Brown, H. Caswell, C. W. Clark, M. Fujiwara, et al. 2005. North Atlantic right whales in crisis. Science 309:561–562.
- Ladrón de Guevara P., P., B. E. Lavaniegos, and G. Heckel. 2008. Fin whales (Balaenoptera physalus) foraging on daytime surface swarms of the euphausiid Nyctiphanes simplex in Ballenas Channel, Gulf of California, Mexico. Journal of Mammalogy 89:559–566.
- Laist, D. W., A. M. Knowlton, J. G. Mead, A. S. Collet, and M. Podesta. 2001. Collisions between ships and whales. Marine Mammal Science 17:35–75.
- Lefebvre, K. A., L. Quakenbush, E. Frame, K. B. Huntington, G. Sheffield, et al. 2016. Prevalence of algal toxins in Alaskan marine mammals foraging in a changing arctic and subarctic environment. Harmful Algae 55:13–24.
- LeDuc, R. G., B. L. Taylor, K. K. Martien, K. M. Robertson, R. L. Pitman, et al. 2012. Genetic analysis of right whales in the eastern North Pacific confirms severe extirpation risk. Endangered Species Research 18:163–167.
- Lewitus, A. J., R. A. Horner, D. A. Caron, E. Garcia-Mendoza, B. M. Hickey, et al. 2012. Harmful algal blooms along the North American west coast region: history, trends, causes, and impacts. Harmful Algae 19:133–159.
- Lockyer, C. 1984. Review of baleen whale (Mysticeti) reproduction and implications for management.

- Reports of the International Whaling Commission, Special Issue 6:27–48.
- Lomac-MacNair, K. and M. A. Smultea. 2016. Blue whale (*Balaenoptera musculus*) behavior and group dynamics as observed from an aircraft off southern California. Animal Behavior and Cognition 3:1–21.
- MacLeod, C. D. 2009. Global climate change, range changes and potential implications for the conservation of marine cetaceans: a review and synthesis. Endangered Species Research 7:125–136
- Marques, T. A., L. Munger, L. Thomas, S. Wiggins, and J. A. Hildebrand. 2011. Estimating North Pacific right whale *Eubalaena japonica* density using passive acoustic cue counting. Endangered Species Research 13:163–172.
- Marshall, K. N., I. C. Kaplan, E. E. Hodgson, A. Herman, D. S. Busch, et al. 2017. Risks of ocean acidification in the California Current food web and fisheries: ecosystem model projections. Global Change Biology 23:1525–1539.
- Masaki, Y. 1977. The separation of the stock units of sei whales in the North Pacific. Reports of the International Whaling Commission, Special Issue 1:71–79.
- Mate, B. R., B. A. Lagerquist, and J. Calambokidis. 1999. Movements of North Pacific blue whales during the feeding season off southern California and their southern fall migration. Marine Mammal Science 15:1246–1257.
- Mate, B., D. M. Palacios, L. Irvine, B. Lagerquist, T. Follett, M. Winsor, and C. Hayslip. 2015. Baleen (blue & fin) whale tagging in southern California in support of marine mammal monitoring across multiple Navy training areas (SOCAL, NWTRC, GOA). Final report. Submitted to Naval Facilities Engineering Command Pacific, Pearl Harbor, Hawaii, under Contract No. N62470-10-D-3011, Task Orders JP03 and KB27 issued to HDR, Inc., San Diego, California.
- McDonald, M. A., J. A. Hildebrand, and S. C. Webb. 1995. Blue and fin whales observed on a seafloor array in the northeast Pacific. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 98:712–721.
- McKibben, S. M., W. Peterson, A. M. Wood, V. L. Trainer, M. Hunter, and A. E. White. 2017. Climatic regulation of the neurotoxin domoic acid. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114:239–244.
- Melcón, M. L., A. J. Cummins, S. M. Kerosky, L. K. Roche, S. M. Wiggins, and J. A. Hildebrand. 2012. Blue whales respond to anthropogenic noise. PLoS ONE 7(2): e32681.

PUBLIC REVIEW DRAFT

- Mellinger, D. K., K. M. Stafford, S. E. Moore, L. Munger, and C. G. Fox. 2004. Detection of North Pacific right whale (*Eubalaena japonica*) calls in the Gulf of Alaska. Marine Mammal Science 20:872– 879.
- Mesnick, S. L. 2014. Family Physeteridae (sperm whale). Pages 300–317 *in* D. E. Wilson and R. A. Mittermeier, editors. Handbook of the mammals of the world. Volume 4. Sea mammals. Lynx Edicions, Barcelona, Spain.
- Mesnick, S. L., B. L. Taylor, F. I. Archer, K. K. Martien, S. Escorza Trevino, et al. 2011. Sperm whale population structure in the eastern and central North Pacific inferred by the use of single-nucleotide polymorphisms, microsatellites and mitochondrial DNA. Molecular Ecology Resources 11(Supplement 1):278–298.
- Mizroch, S. A. and D. W. Rice. 2013. Ocean nomads: distribution and movements of sperm whales in the North Pacific shown by whaling data and Discovery marks. Marine Mammal Science 29:E136–E165.
- Mizroch, S. A., D. W. Rice, D. Zwiefelhofer, J. Waite, and W. L. Perryman. 2009. Distribution and movements of fin whales in the North Pacific Ocean. Mammal Review 39:193–227.
- Mongillo, T. M., G. M. Ylitalo, L. D. Rhodes, S. M. O'Neill, D. P. Noren, and M. B. Hanson. 2016. Exposure to a mixture of toxic chemicals: implications for the health of endangered southern resident killer whales. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NWFSC-135, Northwest Fisheries Science Center, Seattle, Washington.
- Monnahan, C. C., T. A. Branch, K. M. Stafford, Y. V. Ivashchenko, and E. M. Oleson. 2014. Estimating historical eastern North Pacific blue whale catches using spatial calling patterns. PLoS ONE 9(6): e98974.
- Monnahan, C. C., T. A. Branch, and A. E. Punt. 2015. Do ship strikes threaten the recovery of endangered eastern North Pacific blue whales? Marine Mammal Science 31:279–297.
- Moore, J. E. and J. Barlow. 2011. Bayesian state-space model of fin whale abundance trends from a 1991–2008 time series of line-transect surveys in the California Current. Journal of Applied Ecology 48:1195–1205.
- Moore, J. E. and J. P. Barlow. 2014. Improved abundance and trend estimates for sperm whales in the eastern North Pacific from Bayesian hierarchical modeling. Endangered Species Research 25:141–150.
- Moore, S. E. 2016. Is it 'boom times' for baleen whales in the Pacific Arctic region? Biology Letters 12:

- 20160251. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2016.0251
- Moore, S. E. and J. T. Clarke. 2002. Potential impact of offshore human activities on gray whales (*Eschrichtius robustus*). Journal of Cetacean Research and Management 4:19–25.
- Moore, S. E., M. E. Dahlheim, K. M. Stafford, C. G.
  Fox, H. G. Braham, M. A. McDonald, and J.
  Thomason. 1999. Acoustic and visual detection of large whales in the eastern North Pacific Ocean.
  NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-AFSC-107, Alaska Fisheries Science Center, Seattle, Washington.
- Murase, H., T. Hakamada, S. Nishiwaki, D. Inagake, M. Okazaki, N. Tojo, and T. Kitakado. 2014.
  Distribution of sei whales (*Balaenoptera borealis*) in the subarctic–subtropical transition area of the western North Pacific in relation to oceanic fronts.
  Deep-Sea Research II 107:22–28.
- Muto, M. M., V. T. Helker, R. P. Angliss, B. A. Allen,
   P. L. Boveng, et al. 2016. Alaska marine mammal stock assessments, 2015. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-AFSC-323, National Marine Mammal Laboratory, Seattle, Washington.
- Nadeem, K., J. E. Moore, Y. Zhang, and H. Chipman. 2016. Integrating population dynamics models and distance sampling data: a spatial hierarchical statespace approach. Ecology 97:1735–1745.
- Neel, J., C. Hart, D. Lynch, S. Chan, and J. Harris. 2007. Oil spills in Washington state: a historical analysis (revision of 1997 report). Publication No. 97–252, Washington State Department of Ecology, Olympia, Washington.
- Neilson, J. L., J. M. Straley, C. M. Gabriele, and S. Hills. 2009. Nonlethal entanglement of humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) in fishing gear in northern Southeast Alaska. Journal of Biogeography 36:452–464.
- Niño-Torres, C. A., T. Zenteno-Savín, S. C. Gardner, and J. Urbán R. 2009. Organochlorine pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls in fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) from the Gulf of California. Environmental Toxicology 25:381–390.
- Nishiwaki, M. 1966. Distribution and migration of the larger cetaceans in the North Pacific as shown by Japanese whaling results. Pages 171–191 *in* K. S. Norris, editor. Whales, dolphins and porpoises. University of California Press, Berkeley, California.
- NMFS (National Marine Fisheries Service). 2010a. Final recovery plan for the fin whale (*Balaenoptera physalus*). National Marine Fisheries Service, Silver Spring, Maryland.
- NMFS (National Marine Fisheries Service). 2010b. Recovery plan for the sperm whale (*Physeter*

- macrocephalus). National Marine Fisheries Service, Silver Spring, Maryland.
- NMFS (National Marine Fisheries Service). 2011a. Final recovery plan for the sei whale (*Balaenoptera borealis*). National Marine Fisheries Service, Silver Spring, Maryland.
- NMFS (National Marine Fisheries Service). 2011b. Fin whale (*Balaenoptera physalus*), 5-year review: summary and evaluation. National Marine Fisheries Service, Silver Spring, Maryland.
- NMFS (National Marine Fisheries Service). 2012a. Sei whale (*Balaenoptera borealis*), 5-year review: summary and evaluation. National Marine Fisheries Service, Silver Spring, Maryland.
- NMFS (National Marine Fisheries Service). 2012b. North Pacific right whale (*Eubalaena japonica*), fiveyear review: summary and evaluation. National Marine Fisheries Service, Silver Spring, Maryland.
- NMFS (National Marine Fisheries Service). 2012c. Oil spill emergency response: killer whale-hazing implementation plan. Northwest Region, National Marine Fisheries Service, Seattle, Washington.
- NMFS (National Marine Fisheries Service). 2013. Final recovery plan for the North Pacific right whale (*Eubalaena japonica*). National Marine Fisheries Service, Silver Spring, Maryland.
- NMFS (National Marine Fisheries Service). 2015a. Sperm whale (*Physter macrocephalus*), 5-year review: summary and evaluation. National Marine Fisheries Service, Silver Spring, Maryland.
- NMFS (National Marine Fisheries Service). 2015b. Takes of marine mammals incidental to specified activities: U.S. Navy training and testing activities in the Northwest Training and Testing Study Area. Federal Register 80(226):73556–73629.
- NOAA (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration). 2016. Ocean noise strategy roadmap. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Silver Spring, Maryland.
- NOAA Fisheries. 2017. 2016 west coast entanglement summary. National Marine Fisheries Service, Long Beach, California.
- Norman, S. A., C. E. Bowlby, M. S. Brancato, J. Calambokidis, D. Duffield, et al. 2004. Cetacean strandings in Oregon and Washington between 1930 and 2002. Journal of Cetacean Research and Management 6:87–99.
- Norris, L. 1980. Blue whale struck by freighter. Cetus 2(6):2.
- Nowacek, D. P., L. H. Thorne, D. W. Johnston, and P. L. Tyack. 2007. Responses of cetaceans to anthropogenic noise. Mammal Review 37:81–115.
- Nowacek, D. P., C. W. Clark, D. Mann, P. J. O. Miller, H. C. Rosenbaum, et al. 2015. Marine seismic surveys and ocean noise: time for coordinated and

- prudent planning. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 13:378–386.
- O'Connor, S., R. Campbell, H. Cortez, and T. Knowles. 2009. Whale watching worldwide: tourism numbers, expenditures and expanding economic benefits. International Fund for Animal Welfare, Yarmouth, Massachusetts.
- O'Hara, T. M. and T. J. O'Shea. 2001. Toxicology. Pages 471–520 in L. A. Dierauf and F. M. D. Gulland, editors. CRC handbook of marine mammal medicine. 2nd edition. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida.
- Ohsumi, S. 1965. Reproduction of the sperm whale in the northwest Pacific. Scientific Reports of the Whales Research Institute 19:1–35.
- Ohsumi, S. 1980. Catches of sperm whales by modern whaling in the North Pacific. Reports of the International Whaling Commission, Special Issue 2:11–18.
- Ohsumi, S. 1986. Yearly change in age and body length at sexual maturity of a fin whale stock in the eastern North Pacific. Scientific Reports of the Whales Research Institute 37:1–16.
- Ohsumi, S. and S. Wada. 1974. Status of whale stocks in the North Pacific, 1972. Reports of the International Whaling Commission 25:114–126.
- Oleson, E. and J. Hildebrand. 2012. Marine mammal demographics off the outer Washington coast and near Hawaii. NPS-OC-12-001CR, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, California.
- Oleson, E. M., J. Calambokidis, E. Falcone, G. Schorr, and J. A. Hildebrand. 2009. Acoustic and visual monitoring for cetaceans along the outer Washington coast. NPS-OC-09-001, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, California.
- Oleson, E. M., A. Śirović, A. R. Bayless, and J. A. Hildebrand. 2014. Synchronous seasonal change in fin whale song in the North Pacific. PLoS ONE 9: e115678
- Omura, H., S. Ohsumi, T. Nemoto, K. Nasu, and T. Kasuya. 1969. Black right whales in the North Pacific. Scientific Reports of the Whales Research Institute 21:1–67.
- Osborne, R., J. Calambokidis, and E. M. Dorsey. 1988. A guide to marine mammals of greater Puget Sound. Island Publishers, Anacortes, Washington.
- O'Shea, T. J. 1999. Environmental contaminants and marine mammals. Pages 485–563 in J. E. Reynolds III and S. A. Rommel, editors. Biology of marine mammals. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.C.
- O'Shea, T. J. and R. L. Brownell, Jr. 1994.

  Organochlorine and metal contaminants in baleen whales: a review and evaluation of conservation

- implications. Science of the Total Environment 154:179–200.
- Ovsyanikova, E., I. Fedutin, O. Belonovich, A. Burdin, V. Burkanov, et al. 2015. Opportunistic sightings of the endangered North Pacific right whales (*Eubalaena japonica*) in Russian waters in 2003–2014. Marine Mammal Science 31:1559–1567.
- Panigada, S., M. Zanardelli, S. Canese, and M. Jahoda. 1999. How deep can baleen whales dive? Marine Ecology Progress Series 187:309–311.
- Parsons, E. C. M. 2012. The negative impacts of whalewatching. Journal of Marine Biology 2012:807294. doi:10.1155/2012/807294
- PFMC (Pacific Fishery Management Council). 2011. Status of the Pacific coast coastal pelagic species fishery and recommended acceptable biological catches: stock assessment and fishery evaluation, 2011. Pacific Fishery Management Council, Portland, Oregon.
- Pike, G. C. and I. B. MacAskie. 1969. Marine mammals of British Columbia. Bulletin of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 171:1–54.
- Preston, D. 2003. Sei whale carcass provides opportunity for research. Northwest Indian Fisheries Commission News 29(3):4–5.
- Prieto, R., D. Janiger, M. A. Silva, G. T. Waring, and J. M. Gonçalves. 2012. The forgotten whale: a bibliometric analysis and literature review of the North Atlantic sei whale *Balaenoptera borealis*. Mammal Review 42:235–272.
- Ramp, C., J. Delarue, P. J. Palsbøll, R. Sears, and P. S. Hammond. 2015. Adapting to a warmer ocean—seasonal shift of baleen whale movements over three decades. PLoS ONE 10(3):e0121374.
- Rankin, S., J. Barlow, and K. M. Stafford. 2006. Blue whale (*Balaenoptera musculus*) sightings and recordings south of the Aleutian Islands. Marine Mammal Science 22:708–713.
- Redfern, J. V., M. F. McKenna, T. J. Moore, J.
  Calambokidis, M. L. DeAngelis, et al. 2013.
  Assessing the risk of ships striking large whales in marine spatial planning. Conservation Biology 27:292–302.
- Redfern, J. V., L. T. Hatch, C. Caldow, M. L. DeAngelis, J. Gedamke, et al. 2013. Assessing the risk of chronic shipping noise to baleen whales off southern California, USA. Endangered Species Research 32:153–167.
- Reeves, R. R. and S. Leatherwood. 1985. Sightings of right whales (*Eubalaena glacialis*) in the eastern North Pacific. Paper SC/37/PS3, International Whaling Commission, Bournemouth, United Kingdom.
- Reeves, R. R., P. J. Clapham, R. L. Brownell, Jr., and G. K. Silber. 1998. Recovery plan for the blue whale

- (Balaenoptera musculus). National Marine Fisheries Service, Silver Spring, Maryland.
- Reeves, R. R., K. McClellan and T. B. Werner. 2013. Marine mammal bycatch in gillnet and other entangling net fisheries, 1990 to 2011. Endangered Species Research 20:71–97.
- Reijnders, P. J. H., A. Aguilar, and A. Burrell. 2009.
  Pollution and marine mammals. Pages 890–898 in W. F. Perrin, B. Würsig, and J. G. M. Thewissen, editors. Encyclopedia of marine mammals, 2nd edition. Academic Press, San Diego, California.
- Reilly, S. B., J. L. Bannister, P. B. Best, M. Brown, R. L. Brownell Jr., et al. 2008. *Balaenoptera musculus*. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2008:e.T2477A9447146. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2008.RLTS. T2477A9447146.en Accessed on 2 April 2017.
- Reilly, S. B., J. L. Bannister, P. B. Best, M. Brown, R. L. Brownell, Jr., et al. 2013. *Balaenoptera physalus*. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2013:e.T2478A44210520. <a href="http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/full/2478/0">http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/full/2478/0</a> Accessed on 2 April 2017.
- Rice, D. W. 1974. Whales and whale research in the eastern North Pacific. Pages 170–195 in W. E. Schevill, editor. The whale problem: a status report. Harvard Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Rice, D. W. 1977. Synopsis of biological data on the sei whale and Bryde's whale in the eastern North Pacific. Reports of the International Whaling Commission, Special Issue 1:92–97.
- Rice, D. W. 1989. Sperm whale *Physeter macrocephalus* Linnaeus, 1758. Pages 177–233 *in* S. H. Ridgway and R. Harrison, editors. Handbook of marine mammals, vol. 4. Academic Press, London.
- Rice, D. W. and C. H. Fiscus. 1968. Right whales in the south-eastern North Pacific. Norsk Hvalfangsttidende 57:105–107.
- Rice, D. W., A. A. Wolman, B. R. Mate, and J. T. Harvey. 1986. A mass stranding of sperm whales in Oregon: sex and age composition of the school. Marine Mammal Science 2:64–69.
- Risch, D., P. J. Corkeron, W. T. Ellison, and S. M. Van Parijs. 2012. Changes in humpback whale song occurrence in response to an acoustic source 200 km away. PLoS ONE 7(1):e29741.
- Ritter, F. and S. Panigada. 2014. IWC guidance for cruise ship operators to minimise risk of collisions with cetaceans. International Whaling Commission Report SC/65b/ HIM05. <a href="https://iwc.int/shipstrikes">https://iwc.int/shipstrikes</a> Accessed 13 February 2017.
- Rocha, R. C., Jr., P. J. Clapham, and Y. I. Ivashchenko. 2014. Emptying the oceans: a summary of industrial whaling catches in the 20th century. Marine Fisheries Review 76(4):37–48.

- Rolland, R. M., S. E. Parks, K. E. Hunt, M. Castellote, P. J. Corkeron, D. P. Nowacek, S. K. Wasser, and S. D. Kraus. 2012. Evidence that ship noise increases stress in right whales. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 279:2363– 2368.
- Roman, J. and S. R. Palumbi. 2003. Whales before whaling in the North Atlantic. Science 301:508– 510.
- Rosenbaum, H. C., R. L. Brownell, Jr., M. W. Brown, C. Schaeff, V. Portway, et al. 2000. World-wide genetic differentiation of *Eubalaena*: questioning the number of right whale species. Molecular Ecology 9:1793–1802.
- Rowlett, R. A., G. A. Green, C. E. Bowlby, and M. A. Smultea. 1994. The first photographic documentation of a northern right whale off Washington state. Northwestern Naturalist 75:102–104.
- Saez, L., D. Lawson, M. DeAngelis, E. Petras, S. Wilkin, and C. Fahy. 2013. Understanding the cooccurrence of large whales and commercial fixed gear fisheries off the west coast of the United States. NOAA Technical Memorandum NOAA-TM-NMFS-SWR-044, Southwest Regional Office, Long Beach, California.
- Salden, D. R. and J. Mickelsen. 1999. Rare sighting of a North Pacific right whale (*Eubalaena glacialis*) in Hawai'i. Pacific Science 53:341–345.
- Scammon, C. M. 1874. The marine mammals of the northwestern coast of North America, together with an account of the American whale-fishery. J. H. Carmany and Company, San Francisco, California.
- Scarff, J. E. 1986. Historic and present distribution of the right whale (*Eubalaena glacialis*) in the eastern North Pacific south of 50°N and east of 180°W. Reports of the International Whaling Commission Special Issue 10:43–63.
- Scarff, J. E. 1991. Historic distribution and abundance of the right whale (*Eubalaena glacialis*) in the North Pacific, Bering Sea, Sea of Okhotsk and Sea of Japan from the Maury whale charts. Reports of the International Whaling Commission 41:467–489.
- Scarff, J. E. 2001. Preliminary estimates of whaling-induced mortality in the 19th century North Pacific right whale (*Eubalaena japonicus*) fishery, adjusting for struck-but-lost whales and non-American whaling. Journal of Cetacean Research and Management Special Issue 2:261–268.
- Scheffer, V. B. and J. W. Slipp. 1948. The whales and dolphins of Washington state with a key to the cetaceans of the west coast of North America. American Midland Naturalist 39:257–337.

- Schilling, M. R., I. Seipt, M. T. Weinrich, S. E. Frohock, A. E. Kuhlberg, and P. J. Clapham. 1992. Behavior of individually-identified sei whales *Balaenoptera* borealis during an episodic influx into the southern Gulf of Maine in 1986. Fishery Bulletin 90:749– 755.
- Schoenherr, J. R. 1991. Blue whales feeding on high concentrations of euphausiids around Monterey Submarine Canyon. Canadian Journal of Zoology 69:583–594.
- Schorr, G. S., E. A. Falcone, J. Calambokidis, and R. D. Andrews. 2010. Satellite tagging of fin whales off California and Washington in 2010 to identify movement patterns, habitat use, and possible stock boundaries. Report prepared for the Southwest Fisheries Science Center, La Jolla, California.
- Schorr, G., E. Falcone, and J. Calambokidis. 2013. Summary of tag deployments on cetaceans off Washington, May 2010 to May 2013. HDR, San Diego, California.
- Sears, R., C. Ramp, A. B. Douglas, and J. Calambokidis. 2013. Reproductive parameters of eastern North Pacific blue whales *Balaenoptera musculus*. Endangered Species Research 22:23–31.
- Sekiguchi, K., H. Onishi, H. Sasaki, S. Haba, Y. Iwahara, et al. 2014. Sightings of the western stock of North Pacific right whales (*Eubalaena japonica*) in the far southeast of the Kamchatka Peninsula. Marine Mammal Science 30:1199–1209.
- Shelden, K. E. W., D. J. Rugh, J. L. Laake, J. M. Waite, P. J. Gearin, and T. R. Wahl. 2000. Winter observations of cetaceans off the northern Washington coast. Northwestern Naturalist 81:54– 59.
- Shelden, K. M., S. E. Moore, J. M. Waite, P. R. Wade, and D. J. Rugh. 2005. Historic and current habitat use by North Pacific right whales *Eubalaena japonica* in the Bering Sea and Gulf of Alaska. Mammal Review 35:129–155.
- Shirihai, H. and B. Jarrett. 2006. Whales, dolphins, and other marine mammals of the world. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey.
- Sigler, M. F., K. J. Kuletz, P. H. Ressler, N. A. Friday,
  C. D. Wilson, and A. N. Zerbini. 2012. Marine predators and persistent prey in the southeast
  Bering Sea. Deep-Sea Research II 65–70:292–303.
- Simmonds, M. P. and W. J. Eliott. 2009. Climate change and cetaceans: concerns and recent developments. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 89:203–210.
- Širović, A., E. M. Oleson, J. Calambokidis, S. Baumann-Pickering, A. Cummins, et al. 2011. Marine mammal demographics off the outer Washington coast during 2008–2009. Technical

- Report #NPS-OC-11-004CR, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, California.
- Širović, A., J. A. Hildebrand, S. Baumann-Pickering, J. Buccowich, A. Cummins, et al. 2012. Passive acoustic monitoring for marine mammals in the Northwest Training Range Complex 2011. Marine Physical Laboratory Technical Memorandum 535, Scripps Institution of Oceanography, La Jolla, California.
- Širović, A., S. C. Johnson, L. K. Roche, L. M. Varga, S. M. Wiggins, and J. A. Hildebrand. 2015. North Pacific right whales (*Eubalaena japonica*) recorded in the northeastern Pacific Ocean in 2013. Marine Mammal Science 31:800–807.
- Skov, H., T. Gunnlaugsson, W. P. Budgell, J. Horne, L. Nøttestad, E. Olsen, H. Søiland, G. Víkingsson, and G. Waring. 2008. Small-scale spatial variability of sperm and sei whales in relation to oceanographic and topographic features along the Mid-Atlantic Ridge. Deep-Sea Research II 55:254– 268.
- Smith C. R., T. K. Rowles, L. B. Hart, F. I. Townsend, R. S. Wells, et al. 2017. Slow recovery of Barataria Bay dolphin health following the *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill (2013–2014), with evidence of persistent lung disease and impaired stress response. Endangered Species Research 33:127–142.
- Smith, T. D., R. R. Reeves, E. A. Josephson, J. N. Lund, and H. Whitehead. 2008. Sperm whale catches and encounter rates during the 19th and 20th centuries: an apparent paradox. Pages 149–173 *in* D. J. Starkey, P. Holm, and M. Bernard, editors. Oceans past: management insights from the history of marine animal populations. Earthscan, London, United Kingdom.
- Smith, T. D., R. R. Reeves, E. A. Josephson, and J. N. Lund. 2012. Spatial and seasonal distribution of American whaling and whales in the age of sail. PLoS ONE 7(4):e34905.
- Soule, D. C. and W. S. D. Wilcock. 2013. Fin whale tracks recorded by a seismic network on the Juan de Fuca Ridge, Northeast Pacific Ocean. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 133:1751–1761.
- Stafford, K. M., C. G. Fox, and D. S. Clark. 1998. Long-range acoustic detection and localization of blue whale calls in the northeast Pacific Ocean. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 104:3616–3625.
- Stafford, K. M., S. L. Nieukirk, and C. G. Fox. 1999. An acoustic link between blue whales in the eastern tropical Pacific and the northeast Pacific. Marine Mammal Science 15:1258–1268.
- Stafford, K. M., J. J. Citta, S. E. Moore, M. A. Daher, and J. E. George. 2009. Environmental correlates

- of blue and fin whale call detections in the North Pacific Ocean from 1997 to 2002. Marine Ecology Progress Series 395:37–53.
- Straley, J. M., G. S. Schorr, A. M. Thode, J. Calambokidis, C. R. Lunsford, E. M. Chenoweth, V. M. O'Connell, and R. D. Andrews. 2014. Depredating sperm whales in the Gulf of Alaska: local habitat use and long distance movements across putative population boundaries. Endangered Species Research 24:125–135.
- Swan, J. G. 1870. The Indians of Cape Flattery at the entrance to the Strait of Juan de Fuca, Washington Territory. Smithsonian Contributions to Knowledge 220, Smithsonian Institution, Washington, D.C.
- SWFSC (Southwest Fisheries Science Center). 2006. Collaborative survey of cetacean abundance and the pelagic ecosystem (CSCAPE 2005). Cruise report: AR-05-04 and AR-05-06, Southwest Fisheries Science Center cruise number 1627, June 4–13 and July 5–24, 2005, NOAA ship *MacArthur II*. Southwest Fisheries Science Center, La Jolla, California.
  - https://swfsc.noaa.gov/textblock.aspx?Division= PRD&ParentMenuId=258&id=1475 Accessed 7 April 2017.
- Takeshita, R., L. Sullivan, C. Smith, T. Collier, A. Hall,
   T. Brosnan, T. Rowles, and L. Schwacke. 2017.
   The *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill marine mammal injury assessment. Endangered Species Research 33:95–106.
- Taylor, B. L., R. Baird, J. Barlow, S. M. Dawson, J. Ford, J. G. Mead, G. Notarbartolo di Sciara, P. Wade, and R. L. Pitman. 2008. *Physeter macrocephalus*. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2008:e.T41755A10554884. <a href="http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/41755/0">http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/41755/0</a> Accessed on 19 January 2017.
- Teloni, V., J. P. Mark, M. J. Patrick, and M. T. Peter. 2008. Shallow food for deep divers: dynamic foraging behavior of male sperm whales in a high latitude habitat. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 354:119–131.
- Thomas, P. O., R. R. Reeves, and R. L. Brownell, Jr. 2016. Status of the world's baleen whales. Marine Mammal Science 32:682–734.
- Tillman, M. F. 1977. Estimates of population size for the North Pacific sei whale. Reports of the International Whaling Commission, Special Issue 1:98–106.
- Torres de la Riva, G., C. K. Johnson, F. M. D. Gulland, G. W. Langlois, J. E. Heyning, T. K. Rowles, and J. A. K. Mazet. 2009. Association of an unusual marine mammal mortality event with *Pseudo-*

- nitzschia spp. blooms along the southern California coastline. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 45:109–121.
- Trickey, J. S., S. Baumann-Pickering, A. Širović, J. A. Hildebrand, A. M. Brewer, et al. 2015. Passive acoustic monitoring for marine mammals in the Northwest Training Range Complex July 2013–April 2014. Marine Physical Laboratory Technical Memorandum 557, Scripps Institution of Oceanography, La Jolla, California.
- Valdez-Márquez, M., M. L. Lares, V. Camacho Ibar, and D. Gendron. 2004. Chlorinated hydrocarbons in skin and blubber of two blue whales (Balaenoptera musculus) stranded along the Baja California coast. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 72:490–495.
- Van Dorp, J. R. and J. Merrick. 2017. VTRA 2015 final report, updating the VTRA 2010: a potential oil loss comparison of scenario analyses by four spill size categories. George Washington University, Washington, D.C., and Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, Virginia.
- Von Saunder, A. and J. Barlow. 1999. A report of the Oregon, California and Washington line-transect experiment (ORCAWALE) conducted in West Coast waters during summer/fall 1996. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-SWFSC-264, Southwest Fisheries Science Center, La Jolla, California.
- Wade, P. R., A. D. Robertis, K. R. Hough, R. Booth, A. Kennedy, et al. 2011a. Rare detections of North Pacific right whales in the Gulf of Alaska, with observations of their potential prey. Endangered Species Research 13:99–109.
- Wade, P. R., A. Kennedy, R. LeDuc, J. Barlow, J. Carretta, et al. 2011b. The world's smallest whale population? Biology Letters 7:83–85.
- Wahl, T. R. 1977. Sight records of some marine mammals offshore from Westport, Washington. Murrelet 58:21–23.
- Watanabe, H., M. Okazaki, T. Tamura, K. Konishi, D. Inagake, T. Bando, H. Kiwada, and T. Miyashita. 2012. Habitat and prey selection of common minke, sei, and Bryde's whales in mesoscale during summer in the subarctic and transition regions of the western North Pacific. Fisheries Science 78:557–567.
- Watwood, S. L., P. J. O. Miller, M. Johnson, P. T. Madsen, and P. L. Tyack. 2006. Deep-diving foraging behavior of sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*). Journal of Animal Ecology 75:814–825.
- WDFW (Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife). no date. Lost crab pots: a problem we can solve. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington.

- http://wdfw.wa.gov/fishing/commercial/crab/coastal/crabpots.pdf
- Weirathmueller, M. J., W. S. D. Wilcock, and D. C. Soule. 2013. Source levels of fin whale 20 Hz pulses measured in the Northeast Pacific Ocean. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 133:741–749.
- Whitehead, H. 2002. Estimates of the current global population size and historical trajectory for sperm whales. Marine Ecology Progress Series 242:295– 304.
- Whitehead, H. 2003. Sperm whales: social evolution in the ocean. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Illinois.
- Whitehead, H., A. Coakes, N. Jaquet, and S. Lusseau. 2008. Movements of sperm whales in the tropical Pacific. Marine Ecology Progress Series 361:291– 300
- Williams, R., S. Gero, L. Bejder, J. Calambokidis, S. D. Kraus, D. Lusseau, A. J. Read, and J. Robbins. 2011a. Underestimating the damage: interpreting cetacean carcass recoveries in the context of the *Deepwater Horizon/BP* incident. Conservation Letters 4:228–233.
- Williams, R., E. Ashe, and P. D. O'Hara. 2011b. Marine mammals and debris in coastal waters of British Columbia, Canada. Marine Pollution Bulletin 62:1303–1316.
- Williams, R., G. A. Vikingsson, A. Gislason, C. Lockyer, L. New, L. Thomas, and P. S. Hammond. 2013. Evidence for density-dependent changes in body condition and pregnancy rate of North Atlantic fin whales over four decades of varying environmental conditions. ICES Journal of Marine Science 70:1273–1280.
- Wilson, C., A. V. Sastre, M. Hoffmeyer, V. J. Rowntree, S. E. Fire, et al. 2016. Southern right whale (Eubalaena australis) calf mortality at Península Valdés, Argentina: are harmful algal blooms to blame? Marine Mammal Science 32:423–451.
- Witteveen, B. H. and K. M. Wynne. 2016. Trophic niche partitioning and diet composition of sympatric fin (*Balaenoptera physalus*) and humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) in the Gulf of Alaska revealed through stable isotope analysis. Marine Mammal Science 32:1319–1339.
- WSDOE (Washington State Department of Ecology). 2017. Vessel entries and transits for Washington waters, VEAT 2016. Publication 17-08-001, Washington State Department of Ecology, Olympia, Washington.
- Yochem, P. K. and S. Leatherwood. 1985. Blue whale Balaenoptera musculus (Linnaeus, 1758). Pages 193– 240 in S. H. Ridgway and R. Harrison, editors. Handbook of marine mammals, Vol. 3. The

sirenians and baleen whales. Academic Press, London, United Kingdom. Zerbini, A. N., M. F. Baumgartner, A. S. Kennedy, B. K. Rone, P. R. Wade, and P. J. Clapham. 2015. Space use patterns of the endangered North Pacific right whale *Eubalaena japonica* in the Bering Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 532:269–281.

## PERSONAL COMMUNICATIONS

Dan Ayres Coastal Shellfish Manager Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife Montesano, Washington

Jessie Huggins Cascadia Research Collective Olympia, Washington

Don Noviello Oil Spill Team Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife Olympia, Washington

Kate Stafford Applied Physics Lab University of Washington Seattle, Washington Appendix A. Records of blue whales, fin whales, sei whales, North Pacific right whales, and sperm whales from Washington waters or farther offshore since the 1950s. Records of whales struck by ships and carried into Washington are also included. These records likely do not represent a complete listing of documented records and some records may be duplicated if reported in more than one publication.

Date	Notes and sources
Blue whale	
24 Oct 1980	An 18.3-m long individual found off the bow of a freighter that arrived in Seattle after traveling from Taipei with intermediate stops in California and Port Angeles, Washington (Norris 1980, Laist et al. 2001, Jensen and Silber 2004, Douglas et al. 2008; NMFS, unpubl. data). The whale was believed to have been on the bow for at least five days, thus the strike probably occurred in California. A partial skeleton of the animal is held at the Burke Museum of Natural History, Seattle (UWBM 42004). The NMFS stranding database, which was cited by Norman et al. (2004), lists this whale as a 16.2-m-long female.
11 Jun 1989	A 20-m-long individual found across the bow of a container ship arriving in Tacoma from southern California (Jensen and Silber 2004, Douglas et al. 2008).
18–19 Aug 1990 <sup>a</sup>	One or more whales detected acoustically east of the Juan de Fuca Ridge just south of the Washington-Oregon border (McDonald et al. 1995).
4 Aug 1994	Two whales detected acoustically west of Willapa Bay near 46°34'N, 129°00'W (Stafford et al. 1998).
1993–1994	Many acoustic detections off southwestern Washington from roughly 46°15'N to 47°00'N and 126°50'W to 129°20'W (Moore et al. 1999). Calls heard from July to February, peaking from August to January. No calls detected from March to June.
1994–2000	Acoustic data revealed small numbers of whales routinely present off southwestern Washington from September to February (Burtenshaw et al. 2004).
1994–2008	Five of 104 whales satellite-tagged off southern California passed through Washington waters. Animals occurred coastally or farther offshore (Bailey et al. 2009, Irvine et al. 2014, Mate et al. 2015).
Jun 2008 to Jun 2009	Many acoustic detections at a site off Cape Elizabeth, with most activity from Sep to Dec (Širović et al. 2011, Oleson and Hildebrand 2012). No detections from Mar to Jul.
13 Jan 2009	One seen at Grays Harbor Canyon (Oleson and Hildebrand 2012).
2 Aug 2009	One seen west of Westport (Westport Seabirds, unpubl. data).
Jan to Nov 2011	Many acoustic detections at sites in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth, with most activity from Sep to Feb (Širović et al. 2012). No detections from Apr to Aug.
8 Dec 2011	Six seen feeding with humpback and fin whales about 40 km off Westport. Four of the whales were photographed and identified as animals previously seen off California (Cascadia Research 2011, Jeffries 2012).
Dec 2011 to Jul 2012	Many acoustic detections at sites in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth, with most activity from Dec to Apr (Kerosky et al. 2013). No detections in May and July.

Sep 2012 to Jun 2013	Many acoustic detections in the vicinity of Quinault Canyon (Debich et al. 2014).  Detections heard throughout study period, but with most activity from Nov to Jan and lowest from Mar to June.					
Jul 2013 to Apr 2014	Many acoustic detections at sites in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth, we most activity from Oct to Feb (Trickey et al. 2015). No detections in Sep, Mar, a Apr.					
Aug 2014	At least one individual seen at roughly 48°N, 127°W (Barlow 2016).					
Aug 2014 to Feb 2015	One of 22 blue whales satellite-tagged in southern California traveled north into Washington, where it transited state waters twice in the fall, once moving north to Vancouver Island and again going south toward Oregon (Mate et al. 2015). Both routes mainly followed the continental slope edge.					
1 Aug 2015	Two individuals seen, with one at 47.02°N, 124.37°W and one at 47.01°N, 124.39°W (Westport Seabirds, unpubl. data).					
Fin whale						
29 Apr 1958	One seen 77 km west of Cape Flattery at 48°25'N, 125°55'W (Fiscus and Niggol 1965).					
6 Apr 1986	A 20.2-m-long female found across the bow of a container ship in Tacoma (Douglas et al. 2008; NMFS, unpubl. data). It was likely struck about 320 km off Cape Flattery after already dying. Jensen and Silber (2004) stated that the ship had arrived from Japan, but mistakenly reported the stranding location as Seattle. A partial skeleton of the animal is held at the Burke Museum of Natural History, Seattle (UWBM 42005).					
28–29 Aug 1990ª	Three whales several kilometers apart and traveling northward were detected acoustically east of the Juan de Fuca Ridge just south of the Washington-Oregon border (McDonald et al. 1995).					
21 Jul–1 Aug 1994, Sep 1995	Multiple acoustic detections and several sightings made at different locations off Washington (Moore et al. 1999).					
3–5 Sep 2001	Eight sightings of single animals, all from 47°03.00'N to 47°32.18'N and 125°40.66'W to 127°56.78'W (Appler et al. 2004). Locations of three of the sightings are mapped in Barlow and Forney (2007).					
20 Apr 2002	One seen in "deep water" off Westport (Westport Seabirds, unpubl. data).					
9 Aug 2002	A 17.4-m-long individual found across the bow of a container ship at the Port of Seattle (Jensen and Silber 2004, Douglas et al. 2008; NMFS, unpubl. data).					
2 Oct 2002	An 18.4-m-long female found on the bow of a tanker at Cherry Point, Ferndale (Jensen and Silber 2004, Douglas et al. 2008; NMFS, unpubl. data). The ship had traveled from Valdez, Alaska.					
4 Nov 2002	A 16.2-m-long male found dead drifting off Waldron, Skipjack, and Sucia Islands (Jensen and Silber 2004, Douglas et al. 2008; NMFS, unpubl. data). It was like killed by a ship strike.					

2003–2006	Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located near the Juan de Fuca Ridge in the vicinity of 47°57'N, 129°06'W (Weirathmueller et al. 2013). Most calls heard in the fall and winter. Soule and Wilcock (2013) reported on a subset of these calls used for tracking local movements.					
8 Dec 2005	A pair seen 63 km offshore near the Quinault Canyon at about 47°08'N, 125°03'W (Oleson et al. 2009).					
8 Dec 2005	One seen 10 km south of Race Rocks in the Strait of Juan de Fuca in Washingto waters (Orca Network, unpubl. data).					
14 May 2006	A 16.9-m-long male found floating dead near Lummi Island (Calambokidis 2006, Douglas et al. 2008; NMFS, unpubl. data). It was likely killed by a ship strike.					
8 Nov 2006	A 16.4-m-long male found floating dead at the Port of Everett (Douglas et al. 2008; NMFS, unpubl. data). It had been entangled in marine debris (rope) before being struck by a ship. The strike likely happened before the ship entered the Salish Sea (Douglas et al. 2008).					
22 Mar 2008	One group of six animals seen at 47°27.94'N, 125°10.93'W (Hanson et al. 2009).					
28 May 2008	One or more individuals seen west of Willapa Bay (Orca Network, unpubl. data).					
Jun 2008 to Jun 2009	One of the most commonly heard species detected by an acoustic recording device located off Cape Elizabeth, (Širović et al. 2011, Oleson and Hildebrand 2012). Most detections made from Sep to Apr; calls heard on >90% of days from Oct to Feb. No detections in May and Jun.					
July–Nov 2008	Three individuals seen at roughly 46°20'N, 127°50'W; 46°40'N, 128°00'W; and 47°20'N, 125°20'W (Barlow 2010).					
13 Jan 2009	Three seen together at Grays Harbor Canyon (Oleson and Hildebrand 2012).					
7 Aug 2009	A 14.2-m-long juvenile male arrived at the Port of Tacoma across the bow of a container ship (Huggins and Lambourn 2009; NMFS, unpubl. data).					
9 Feb 2010	An unmeasured individual stranded at Point Grenville (NMFS, unpubl. data).					
6, 9 May 2010	A combined estimated 27 individuals seen off southwestern Washington on these days (Schorr et al. 2010). Four were satellite-tagged at 46.88°N, 125.09°W; 46.81°N, 124.97°W; 46.81°N, 124.99°W; and 46.41°N, 124.92°W (Schorr et al. 2013). Two departed the state within 8 days and moving south to Mexico and California.					
28 Jan 2011	A partial carcass stranded at Ocean Shores was later identified as a fin whale through genetic testing (J. Huggins, pers. comm.; NMFS, unpubl. data).					
Jan to Nov 2011	Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Širović et al. 2012). Most activity was from Sep to Mar, with few detections from late May to late July.					
10 Feb 2011	Three individuals satellite-tagged at 46.49°N, 124.90°W; 46.72°N, 124.94°W; and 46.72°N, 124.93°W (Schorr et al. 2013).					
6 May 2011	One individual seen near the continental shelf edge west of the mouth of Willapa Bay (Jeffries 2012).					
8 Dec 2011	At least one individual seen feeding with humpback and blue whales about 40 km off Westport (Cascadia Research 2011, Jeffries 2012).					

Dec 2011 to Jul 2012	Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Kerosky et al. 2013). Most activity was from Dec to Apr,
	with few detections from May to July.
29–31 May 2012	One or more individuals seen over the continental shelf slope west of southern Willapa Bay (Jeffries et al. 2012).
11–22 Jul 2012	One or more individuals seen at each of three locations off Westport, including two sites along the continental shelf slope and one west of the slope (Jeffries et al. 2013a). Another individual was satellite-tagged on 19 Jul at 46.95°N, 124.99°W (Jeffries et al. 2012, 2013a, Schorr et al. 2013). This whale, which was tagged during air-gun array seismic surveys, had moved south following the shelf slope to an area off south-central Oregon by mid-Aug.
Sept 2012 to Jun 2013	Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon (Debich et al. 2014). Activity was highest from Oct to Jun.
15–16 Jan 2013	A group of seven seen over Guide Canyon on 15 Jan (Jeffries et al. 2013b). On 16 Jan, two groups of about five individuals seen over Guide Canyon and one individual seen near Grays Canyon. Some overlap of animals between the two dates was likely.
9 Mar 2013	Three individuals satellite-tagged at 46.54°N, 124.78°W; 46.49°N, 124.85°W; and 46.50°N, 124.78°W (Schorr et al. 2013).
13 Apr 2013	A 20.0-m-long (estimated) individual stranded in Burien after being struck by an unidentified ship (Cascadia Research 2013a; NMFS, unpubl. data). Carcass was severely damaged and was likely carried into the Salish Sea by the ship.
12 Jun 2013	A 20.7-m-long male stranded 3 km north of Ocean City (Cascadia Research 2013b; NMFS, unpubl. data). It was likely killed by a ship strike.
23 Jul 2013	Two seen between 46.50°N, 125.00°W and 46.52°N, 125.04°W (Westport Seabirds, unpubl. data).
Jul 2013 to Apr 2014	Some acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Trickey et al. 2015). Activity was highest in Dec and Jan; no detections made from late Feb to Apr.
Aug 2014	At least one individual seen at each of three locations at roughly 47°N, 126°W; 47°N, 127°W; and 48°N, 127°W (Barlow 2016).
3 Sep to 21 Oct 2015	A juvenile seen multiple times in the eastern Strait of Juan de Fuca, with at least several of these being confirmed sightings (Orca Network, unpubl. data).
23 Jan, 1 Feb 2016	An individual seen off Seattle (Orca Network, unpubl. data). Reliability of these records is unknown.
15 Jul to 7 Aug 2016	An adult seen multiple times, first in the eastern Strait of Juan de Fuca, then later in Puget Sound south to near Olympia (Orca Network, unpubl. data). At least several were confirmed sightings.
23 Jul 2016	One seen at 46.54°N, 124.43°W (Westport Seabirds, unpubl. data).
12 May 2017	A 15.8-m-long juvenile male arrived at the Port of Tacoma across the bow of a vehicle carrier ship (Cascadia Research, unpubl. data). The whale was probably struck near the entrance of the Strait of Juan de Fuca.

Sei whale						
17 Apr 1994	One seen in "deep water" off Westport (Westport Seabirds, unpubl. data). Because of potential confusion with fin and common minke ( <i>B. acutorostrata</i> ) whales, this record is probably best treated as hypothetical.					
30 Apr 1994	Two seen in "deep water" off Westport (Westport Seabirds, unpubl. data). Because of potential confusion with fin and common minke whales, this record is probably best treated as hypothetical.					
20 Apr 2002	Three seen in "deep water" off Westport (Westport Seabirds, unpubl. data). Because of potential confusion with fin and common minke whales, this record is probably best treated as hypothetical.					
12 Sep 2003	A dead 13.0-m-long adult male found about 8 km west of Port Angeles (Anonymous 2003, Preston 2003, Douglas et al. 2008; NMFS, unpubl. data). It had been struck by a seafood processing ship coming from Dutch Harbor, Alaska, and was likely carried on the bow for as long as a week before becoming dislodged.					
North Pacific rig	rht whale					
10 Apr 1959	Three seen 53 km west of Grays Harbor at 46°54'N, 124°56'W (Fiscus and Niggol 1965). This record is questionable given the inconsistencies noted for the sightings made nine days later (see below).					
19 Apr 1959	Eight seen at two locations, including 21 km southwest of Destruction Island at 47°35'N, 124°46'W and 14 km southwest of Destruction Island at 47°37'N, 124°42'W (Fiscus and Niggol 1965). This record is almost certainly erroneous in at least some of its details and is perhaps best treated as a mixed group comprised of undetermined numbers of humpback, gray, and right whales (Scarff 1986).					
1963–1968 (June)	One seen by Soviet whalers at approximately 46°N, 127°W (Ivashchenko and Clapham 2012).					
17 Jan 1967	Three seen 28 km west-southwest of Cape Flattery at 48°20'N, 125°06'W (Rice and Fiscus 1968).					
20 Mar 1973	Five to seven seen near Cape Flattery at 48°29'N, 124°57'W (Scarff 1986). NMFS staff considered this record as "tentative," meaning that it was probably valid, but not verified (Scarff 1986, Rowlett et al. 1994). However, as discussed in Scarff (1986), the large number of animals noted makes this record highly questionable.					
28 Aug 1983 <sup>a</sup>	Two seen at Swiftsure Bank at the entrance of the Strait of Juan de Fuca in British Columbia (Reeves and Leatherwood 1985), which is close to the border of Washington and only about 17 km northwest of Tatoosh Island. However, this sighting is considered questionable (Ford 2014).					
24 May 1992	One seen over the Quinault Canyon 65 km west of Cape Elizabeth at 47°17.2'N, 125°11.1'W and 6 hr later 48 km west of Destruction Island at 47°38.0'N, 125°07.4'W (Rowlett et al. 1994).					
29 Jun 2013	Two acoustic detections made about 2 hr apart by a recording device in the Quinault Canyon (Debich et al. 2014, Širović et al. 2015).					

25–26 Oct 2013  One seen at Swiftsure Bank at the entrance of the Stratit of Juan de Puca on the British Columbia side of the international border (Tord et al. 2016). This sighting was just 1 km north of the Washington-British Columbia border and 16.5 km northwest of Tatoosh Island.  Sperm whale  5 Feb 1958 One seen 30 miles west-northwest of James Island at 48°02′N, 125°24′W (Fiscus and Niggol 1965).  22 Apr 1959 One seen 22 miles west of Cape Elizabeth at 47°23′N, 124°51′W (Fiscus and Niggol 1965).  21 Oct 1977 A 1.5.5-m-long male found stranded at Kalaloch (NMFS, unpubl. data). Teeth and phalanges from the animal are held at the Burke Museum of Natural History, Scattle (UWBM 42013).  4 Jan 1982 A 13.7-m-long female found stranded at Kalaloch (NMFS, unpubl. data).  27 Jul 1982 A 10.8-m-long male found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Pour signings of single individuals made between spring and fall; exact dates not listed (Green et al. 1992). Most were probably large males. Approximate locations were 48°23′N, 125°58′W; 47°25′N, 126°20′W; 47°25′N, 126°23′W; and 46°15′N, 125°00′W (this animal was along the Washington-Oregon border).  28 Nov 1989 An individual of unknown size found stranded at Neah Bay (NMFS, unpubl. data).  23-30 July 1994 Eight sightings from about 46°15′N to 46°45′N and 125°15′W to 130°10′W (Moore et al. 1999). Numbers of whales per sighting were not reported.  22 Mar 2000 An 11.7-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  A 15.3-m-long male found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  A 15.3-m-long male found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  A 15.3-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  A 15.3-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  A 15.3-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  A 15.3-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  A 15.3-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  A 15.3-m-long female							
One seen 30 miles west-northwest of James Island at 48°02'N, 125°24'W (Fiscus and Niggol 1965).  22 Apr 1959 One seen 22 miles west of Cape Elizabeth at 47°23'N, 124°51'W (Fiscus and Niggol 1965).  21 Oct 1977 A 1.5.5-m-long male found stranded at Kalaloch (NMFS, unpubl. data). Teeth and phalanges from the animal are held at the Burke Museum of Natural History, Seattle (UWBM 42013).  4 Jan 1982 A 1.3.7-m-long female found stranded at Kalaloch (NMFS, unpubl. data).  27 Jul 1982 A 10.8-m-long male found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Apr 1986 A 1.3.1-m-long male found stranded at Seaview (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Four sightings of single individuals made between spring and fall; exact dates not listed (Green et al. 1992). Most were probably large males. Approximate locations were 48°23'N, 125°58'W; 47°25'N, 126°20'W; 47°25'N, 126°23'W; and 46°15'N, 125°00'W (this animal was along the Washington-Oregon border).  28 Nov 1989 An individual of unknown size found stranded at Neah Bay (NMFS, unpubl. data).  10 Jun 1994 A 13.0-m-long male found stranded at Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Eight sightings from about 46°15'N to 46°45'N and 125°15'W to 130°10'W (Moore et al. 1999). Numbers of whales per sighting were not reported.  22 Mar 2000 An 11.7-m-long female found stranded at Twin Harbor Beach near Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).  8 Sep 2002 A 15.3-m-long male found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  A 15.2-m-long male found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Oleson et al. 2009). Calling activity was much reduced at the location along the shelf edge (i.e., off Cape Elizabeth). Most calling activity was from Apr to Aug, with fewer detections from Sep to Mar.  9-13 Jun 2005 One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).  Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations: 46°36.05'N, 124°26.26'W; 47°39.97'N, 124°56.82'W; and 48°1	25–26 Oct 2013 <sup>a</sup>	British Columbia side of the international border (Ford et al. 2016). This sighting was just 1 km north of the Washington-British Columbia border and 16.5 km					
Niggol 1965).  22 Apr 1959 One seen 22 miles west of Cape Elizabeth at 47°23'N, 124°51'W (Fiscus and Niggol 1965).  21 Oct 1977 A 15.5-m-long male found stranded at Kalaloch (NMFS, unpubl. data). Teeth and phalanges from the animal are held at the Burke Museum of Natural History, Seattle (UWBM 42013).  4 Jan 1982 A 13.7-m-long female found stranded at Kalaloch (NMFS, unpubl. data).  27 Jul 1982 A 10.8-m-long male found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Apr 1980 to Sep 1990 Four sightings of single individuals made between spring and fall; exact dates not listed (Green et al. 1992). Most were probably large males. Approximate locations were 48°23'N, 125°58'W; 47°25'N, 126°20'W; 47°25'N, 126°23'W; and 46°15'N, 125°00'W (this animal was along the Washington-Oregon border).  28 Nov 1989 An individual of unknown size found stranded at Neah Bay (NMFS, unpubl. data).  10 Jun 1994 A 13.0-m-long male found stranded at Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Eight sightings from about 46°15'N to 46°45'N and 125°15'W to 130°10'W (Moore et al. 1999). Numbers of whales per sighting were not reported.  22 Mar 2000 An 11.7-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  8 Sep 2002 A 15.3-m-long male found stranded at Twin Harbor Beach near Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).  A 15.3-m-long male found stranded at Twin Harbor Beach near Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).  A 15.3-m-long calf found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  A 5.8-m-long calf found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  A 5.8-m-long calf found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).  Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations: 46°3605'N, 124°25.02'W; 47°399'PN, 124°56.82'W; and 48°14.40'N, 123°399'GW (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at 47°45.34'N, 125°02.12'W.  Aug 2007 One struck by a sablefish longline vessel at idle speed at an offshore location	Sperm whale						
1965).  21 Oct 1977  A 15.5-m-long male found stranded at Kalaloch (NMFS, unpubl. data). Teeth and phalanges from the animal are held at the Burke Museum of Natural History, Seattle (UWBM 42013).  4 Jan 1982  A 13.7-m-long female found stranded at Kalaloch (NMFS, unpubl. data).  27 Jul 1982  A 10.8-m-long male found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  19 Apr 1986  A 13.1-m-long male found stranded at Seaview (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Arr 1989 to Sep listed (Green et al. 1992). Most were probably large males. Approximate locations were 48°23°N, 125°58°W; 47°25°N, 126°20°W; 47°25°N, 126°23°W; and 46°15°N, 125°00°W (this animal was along the Washington-Oregon border).  28 Nov 1989  An individual of unknown size found stranded at Neah Bay (NMFS, unpubl. data).  10 Jun 1994  A 13.0-m-long male found stranded at Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).  23–30 July 1994  Eight sightings from about 46°15°N to 46°45°N and 125°15°W to 130°10°W (Moore et al. 1999). Numbers of whales per sighting were not reported.  22 Mar 2000  An 11.7-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  8 Sep 2002  A 15.3-m-long male found stranded at Twin Harbor Beach near Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).  A 5.8-m-long calf found stranded at Twin Harbor Beach near Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).  A 5.8-m-long calf found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Oleson et al. 2009). Calling activity was much reduced at the location along the shelf edge (i.e., off Cape Elizabeth). Most calling activity was from Apr to Aug, with fewer detections from Sep to Mar.  9–13 Jun 2005  One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).  Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations: 46°3.05°N, 124°23.62°W; 47°39.97°N, 124°25.68°W; and 48°14.40°N, 123°39.97°M (Hansson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at 47°45.34°N, 125°02.12°W.  Aug 2007  One struck by a sablefi	5 Feb 1958						
phalanges from the animal are held at the Burke Museum of Natural History, Seattle (UWBM 42013).  4 Jan 1982 A 13.7-m-long female found stranded at Kalaloch (NMFS, unpubl. data).  27 Jul 1982 A 10.8-m-long male found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  19 Apr 1986 A 13.1-m-long male found stranded at Seaview (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Apr 1989 to Sep 1990 Four sightings of single individuals made between spring and fall; exact dates not listed (Green et al. 1992). Most were probably large males. Approximate locations were 48°23'N, 125°58'W; 47°25'N, 126°20'W; 47°25'N, 126°23'W; and 46°15'N, 125°00'W (this animal was along the Washington-Oregon border).  28 Nov 1989 An individual of unknown size found stranded at Neah Bay (NMFS, unpubl. data).  10 Jun 1994 A 13.0-m-long male found stranded at Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).  23–30 July 1994 Eight sightings from about 46°15'N to 46°45'N and 125°15'W to 130°10'W (Moore et al. 1999). Numbers of whales per sighting were not reported.  22 Mar 2000 An 11.7-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  8 Sep 2002 A 15.3-m-long male found stranded at Twin Harbor Beach near Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data). Carcass showed extensive damage, including superficial propeller marks on its back and head. Douglas et al. (2008) listed the whale as a possible ship strike.  9 Oct 2002 A 5.8-m-long calf found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Oleson et al. 2009). Calling activity was much reduced at the location along the shelf edge (i.e., off Cape Elizabeth). Most calling activity was from Apr to Aug, with fewer detections from Sep to Mar.  9–13 Jun 2005 One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).  15–23 Mar 2006 Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations: 46°36.05'N, 124°23.62'W; 47°39.97'N, 124°56.82'W; and 48°14.40'N, 123°39.96'W (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individ	22 Apr 1959						
27 Jul 1982 A 10.8-m-long male found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  19 Apr 1986 A 13.1-m-long male found stranded at Seaview (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Apr 1989 to Sep 1990 Four sightings of single individuals made between spring and fall; exact dates not listed (Green et al. 1992). Most were probably large males. Approximate locations were 48°23'N, 125°58'W; 47°25'N, 126°20'W; 47°25'N, 126°23'W; and 46°15'N, 125°00'W (this animal was along the Washington-Oregon border).  28 Nov 1989 An individual of unknown size found stranded at Neah Bay (NMFS, unpubl. data).  10 Jun 1994 A 13.0-m-long male found stranded at Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Eight sightings from about 46°15'N to 46°45'N and 125°15'W to 130°10'W (Moore et al. 1999). Numbers of whales per sighting were not reported.  22 Mar 2000 An 11.7-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  8 Sep 2002 A 15.3-m-long male found stranded at Twin Harbor Beach near Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data). Carcass showed extensive damage, including superficial propeller marks on its back and head. Douglas et al. (2008) listed the whale as a possible ship strike.  9 Oct 2002 A 5.8-m-long calf found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Oleson et al. 2009). Calling activity was much reduced at the location along the shelf edge (i.e., off Cape Elizabeth). Most calling activity was from Apr to Aug, with fewer detections from Sep to Mar.  9–13 Jun 2005 One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).  15–23 Mar 2006 Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations: 46°36.05°N, 124°23.62°W; 47°39.97°N, 124°56.82°W; and 48°14.40°N, 123°39.96°W (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at 47°45.34°N, 125°02.12°W.  Aug 2007 One struck by a sablefish longline vessel at idle speed at an offshore location	21 Oct 1977	phalanges from the animal are held at the Burke Museum of Natural History,					
19 Apr 1986 A 13.1-m-long male found stranded at Seaview (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Apr 1989 to Sep 1990 Elisted (Green et al. 1992). Most were probably large males. Approximate locations were 48°23'N, 125°58'W; 47°25'N, 126°20'W; 47°25'N, 126°23'W; and 46°15'N, 125°00'W (this animal was along the Washington-Oregon border).  28 Nov 1989 An individual of unknown size found stranded at Neah Bay (NMFS, unpubl. data).  10 Jun 1994 A 13.0-m-long male found stranded at Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).  23–30 July 1994 Eight sightings from about 46°15'N to 46°45'N and 125°15'W to 130°10'W (Moore et al. 1999). Numbers of whales per sighting were not reported.  22 Mar 2000 An 11.7-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  8 Sep 2002 A 15.3-m-long male found stranded at Twin Harbor Beach near Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Carcass showed extensive damage, including superficial propeller marks on its back and head. Douglas et al. (2008) listed the whale as a possible ship strike.  9 Oct 2002 A 5.8-m-long calf found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Oleson et al. 2009). Calling activity was much reduced at the location along the shelf edge (i.e., off Cape Elizabeth). Most calling activity was from Apr to Aug, with fewer detections from Sep to Mar.  9–13 Jun 2005 One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).  15–23 Mar 2006 Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations:  46°36.05'N, 124°23.62'W; 47°39.97'N, 124°56.82'W; and 48°14.40'N,  123°39.96'W (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at 47°45.34'N, 125°02.12'W.  One struck by a sablefish longline vessel at idle speed at an offshore location	4 Jan 1982	A 13.7-m-long female found stranded at Kalaloch (NMFS, unpubl. data).					
Apr 1989 to Sep 1990 Four sightings of single individuals made between spring and fall; exact dates not listed (Green et al. 1992). Most were probably large males. Approximate locations were 48°23'N, 125°58'W; 47°25'N, 126°20'W; 47°25'N, 126°23'W; and 46°15'N, 125°00'W (this animal was along the Washington-Oregon border).  28 Nov 1989 An individual of unknown size found stranded at Neah Bay (NMFS, unpubl. data).  10 Jun 1994 A 13.0-m-long male found stranded at Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Eight sightings from about 46°15'N to 46°45'N and 125°15'W to 130°10'W (Moore et al. 1999). Numbers of whales per sighting were not reported.  22 Mar 2000 An 11.7-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  8 Sep 2002 A 15.3-m-long male found stranded at Twin Harbor Beach near Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data). Carcass showed extensive damage, including superficial propeller marks on its back and head. Douglas et al. (2008) listed the whale as a possible ship strike.  9 Oct 2002 A 5.8-m-long calf found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Oleson et al. 2009). Calling activity was much reduced at the location along the shelf edge (i.e., off Cape Elizabeth). Most calling activity was from Apr to Aug, with fewer detections from Sep to Mar.  9–13 Jun 2005 One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).  Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations: 46°36.05'N, 124°23.62'W; 47°39.97'N, 124°56.82'W; and 48°14.40'N, 123°39.96'W (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at 47°45.34'N, 125°02.12'W.  Aug 2007 One struck by a sablefish longline vessel at idle speed at an offshore location	27 Jul 1982	A 10.8-m-long male found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).					
listed (Green et al. 1992). Most were probably large males. Approximate locations were 48°23′N, 125°58′W; 47°25′N, 126°20′W; 47°25′N, 126°23′W; and 46°15′N, 125°00′W (this animal was along the Washington-Oregon border).  28 Nov 1989 An individual of unknown size found stranded at Neah Bay (NMFS, unpubl. data).  10 Jun 1994 A 13.0-m-long male found stranded at Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).  23–30 July 1994 Eight sightings from about 46°15′N to 46°45′N and 125°15′W to 130°10′W (Moore et al. 1999). Numbers of whales per sighting were not reported.  22 Mar 2000 An 11.7-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  8 Sep 2002 A 15.3-m-long male found stranded at Twin Harbor Beach near Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data). Carcass showed extensive damage, including superficial propeller marks on its back and head. Douglas et al. (2008) listed the whale as a possible ship strike.  9 Oct 2002 A 5.8-m-long calf found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Jul 2004 to Jun 2005 Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Oleson et al. 2009). Calling activity was much reduced at the location along the shelf edge (i.e., off Cape Elizabeth). Most calling activity was from Apr to Aug, with fewer detections from Sep to Mar.  9–13 Jun 2005 One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).  15–23 Mar 2006 Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations: 46°36.05′N, 124°23.62′W; 47°39.97′N, 124°56.82′W; and 48°14.40′N, 123°39.96′W (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at 47°45.34′N, 125°02.12′W.  Aug 2007 One struck by a sablefish longline vessel at idle speed at an offshore location	19 Apr 1986	A 13.1-m-long male found stranded at Seaview (NMFS, unpubl. data).					
10 Jun 1994 A 13.0-m-long male found stranded at Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).  23–30 July 1994 Eight sightings from about 46°15'N to 46°45'N and 125°15'W to 130°10'W (Moore et al. 1999). Numbers of whales per sighting were not reported.  22 Mar 2000 An 11.7-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  8 Sep 2002 A 15.3-m-long male found stranded at Twin Harbor Beach near Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data). Carcass showed extensive damage, including superficial propeller marks on its back and head. Douglas et al. (2008) listed the whale as a possible ship strike.  9 Oct 2002 A 5.8-m-long calf found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Jul 2004 to Jun Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Oleson et al. 2009). Calling activity was much reduced at the location along the shelf edge (i.e., off Cape Elizabeth). Most calling activity was from Apr to Aug, with fewer detections from Sep to Mar.  9–13 Jun 2005 One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).  15–23 Mar 2006 Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations: 46°36.05'N, 124°23.62'W; 47°39.97'N, 124°56.82'W; and 48°14.40'N, 123°39.96'W (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at 47°45.34'N, 125°02.12'W.  Aug 2007 One struck by a sablefish longline vessel at idle speed at an offshore location		listed (Green et al. 1992). Most were probably large males. Approximate locations were 48°23'N, 125°58'W; 47°25'N, 126°20'W; 47°25'N, 126°23'W; and 46°15'N,					
23–30 July 1994 Eight sightings from about 46°15'N to 46°45'N and 125°15'W to 130°10'W (Moore et al. 1999). Numbers of whales per sighting were not reported.  22 Mar 2000 An 11.7-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  8 Sep 2002 A 15.3-m-long male found stranded at Twin Harbor Beach near Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data). Carcass showed extensive damage, including superficial propeller marks on its back and head. Douglas et al. (2008) listed the whale as a possible ship strike.  9 Oct 2002 A 5.8-m-long calf found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Jul 2004 to Jun 2008 Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Oleson et al. 2009). Calling activity was much reduced at the location along the shelf edge (i.e., off Cape Elizabeth). Most calling activity was from Apr to Aug, with fewer detections from Sep to Mar.  9–13 Jun 2005 One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).  15–23 Mar 2006 Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations: 46°36.05'N, 124°23.62'W; 47°39.97'N, 124°56.82'W; and 48°14.40'N, 123°39.96'W (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at 47°45.34'N, 125°02.12'W.  Aug 2007 One struck by a sablefish longline vessel at idle speed at an offshore location	28 Nov 1989	An individual of unknown size found stranded at Neah Bay (NMFS, unpubl. data).					
et al. 1999). Numbers of whales per sighting were not reported.  22 Mar 2000 An 11.7-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  8 Sep 2002 A 15.3-m-long male found stranded at Twin Harbor Beach near Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data). Carcass showed extensive damage, including superficial propeller marks on its back and head. Douglas et al. (2008) listed the whale as a possible ship strike.  9 Oct 2002 A 5.8-m-long calf found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Jul 2004 to Jun 2008 Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Oleson et al. 2009). Calling activity was much reduced at the location along the shelf edge (i.e., off Cape Elizabeth). Most calling activity was from Apr to Aug, with fewer detections from Sep to Mar.  9–13 Jun 2005 One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).  15–23 Mar 2006 Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations: 46°36.05'N, 124°23.62'W; 47°39.97'N, 124°56.82'W; and 48°14.40'N, 123°39.96'W (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at 47°45.34'N, 125°02.12'W.  Aug 2007 One struck by a sablefish longline vessel at idle speed at an offshore location	10 Jun 1994	A 13.0-m-long male found stranded at Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data).					
A 15.3-m-long male found stranded at Twin Harbor Beach near Westport (NMFS, unpubl. data). Carcass showed extensive damage, including superficial propeller marks on its back and head. Douglas et al. (2008) listed the whale as a possible ship strike.  9 Oct 2002 A 5.8-m-long calf found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Jul 2004 to Jun 2008 Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Oleson et al. 2009). Calling activity was much reduced at the location along the shelf edge (i.e., off Cape Elizabeth). Most calling activity was from Apr to Aug, with fewer detections from Sep to Mar.  9–13 Jun 2005 One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).  Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations: 46°36.05'N, 124°23.62'W; 47°39.97'N, 124°56.82'W; and 48°14.40'N, 123°39.96'W (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at 47°45.34'N, 125°02.12'W.  Aug 2007 One struck by a sablefish longline vessel at idle speed at an offshore location	23–30 July 1994	0 0 0					
unpubl. data). Carcass showed extensive damage, including superficial propeller marks on its back and head. Douglas et al. (2008) listed the whale as a possible ship strike.  9 Oct 2002 A 5.8-m-long calf found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).  Jul 2004 to Jun Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Oleson et al. 2009). Calling activity was much reduced at the location along the shelf edge (i.e., off Cape Elizabeth). Most calling activity was from Apr to Aug, with fewer detections from Sep to Mar.  9–13 Jun 2005 One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).  15–23 Mar 2006 Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations: 46°36.05'N, 124°23.62'W; 47°39.97'N, 124°56.82'W; and 48°14.40'N, 123°39.96'W (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at 47°45.34'N, 125°02.12'W.  Aug 2007 One struck by a sablefish longline vessel at idle speed at an offshore location	22 Mar 2000	An 11.7-m-long female found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).					
Jul 2004 to Jun 2008  Many acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Oleson et al. 2009). Calling activity was much reduced at the location along the shelf edge (i.e., off Cape Elizabeth). Most calling activity was from Apr to Aug, with fewer detections from Sep to Mar.  9–13 Jun 2005  One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).  Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations: 46°36.05'N, 124°23.62'W; 47°39.97'N, 124°56.82'W; and 48°14.40'N, 123°39.96'W (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at 47°45.34'N, 125°02.12'W.  Aug 2007  One struck by a sablefish longline vessel at idle speed at an offshore location	8 Sep 2002	unpubl. data). Carcass showed extensive damage, including superficial propeller marks on its back and head. Douglas et al. (2008) listed the whale as a possible					
and off Cape Elizabeth (Oleson et al. 2009). Calling activity was much reduced at the location along the shelf edge (i.e., off Cape Elizabeth). Most calling activity was from Apr to Aug, with fewer detections from Sep to Mar.  9–13 Jun 2005  One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).  Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations: 46°36.05'N, 124°23.62'W; 47°39.97'N, 124°56.82'W; and 48°14.40'N, 123°39.96'W (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at 47°45.34'N, 125°02.12'W.  Aug 2007  One struck by a sablefish longline vessel at idle speed at an offshore location	9 Oct 2002	A 5.8-m-long calf found stranded at Ocean Shores (NMFS, unpubl. data).					
Acoustic detections of one or more individuals made from three locations:  46°36.05'N, 124°23.62'W; 47°39.97'N, 124°56.82'W; and 48°14.40'N, 123°39.96'W (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at 47°45.34'N, 125°02.12'W.  Aug 2007 One struck by a sablefish longline vessel at idle speed at an offshore location	•	and off Cape Elizabeth (Oleson et al. 2009). Calling activity was much reduced at the location along the shelf edge (i.e., off Cape Elizabeth). Most calling activity					
46°36.05'N, 124°23.62'W; 47°39.97'N, 124°56.82'W; and 48°14.40'N, 123°39.96'W (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at 47°45.34'N, 125°02.12'W.  Aug 2007 One struck by a sablefish longline vessel at idle speed at an offshore location	9–13 Jun 2005	One sighting at about 48°N, 126°W (Forney and Bowlby 2005, Forney 2007).					
	15–23 Mar 2006	46°36.05'N, 124°23.62'W; 47°39.97'N, 124°56.82'W; and 48°14.40'N, 123°39.96'W (Hanson et al. 2008a). On 20 March, one individual sighted at					
	Aug 2007	One struck by a sablefish longline vessel at idle speed at an offshore location (Carretta et al. 2013). The animal did not appear to be injured.					

14 Mar 2008	An 11.3-m-long female found stranded at Washaway Beach near North Cove (NMFS, unpubl. data). Whale appeared to show entanglement scars. Skeletal items and tissue from the animal are held at the Burke Museum of Natural History, Seattle (UWBM 80855).
Jun 2008 to Jun 2009	Some acoustic detections by a recording device located near the shelf edge off Cape Elizabeth (Širović et al. 2011, Oleson and Hildebrand 2012). Calls heard in June of both years and from Aug to Oct and in Dec and Jan; most calling activity in Jun. No detections from Feb to May, Jul, and Nov.
Jul to Nov 2008	One individual seen at about 48°N, 126°W (Barlow 2010).
2008 to Jun 2011	"Frequent" sightings of sperm whales reported by long-line fishing vessel crews working off Washington (Jeffries 2012).
Jun to Oct 2009	Three satellite-tagged individuals traveled along or near Washington's continental shelf slope while en route from Southeast Alaska to Mexico (Straley et al. 2014). Two passed through Washington's waters in Jun-Jul 2009 and one in Oct 2009.
Jan to Nov 2011	Some acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Širović et al. 2012). Detections occurred in all months, especially near Quinault Canyon, with higher activity during Feb, late Apr to Jun, and Sep.
Jun 2011	A group of two individuals sighted at about 47°00'N, 125°30'W (Adams et al. 2014).
21 Jan 2012	An 11.6-m-long subadult found stranded near Long Beach (NMFS, unpubl. data). Its skull was severely fractured, the back appeared to be broken, and there was a hemorrhage at head and right scapula, indicating that it was a ship strike.
Dec 2011 to Jul 2012	Some acoustic detections made by recording devices located in the Quinault Canyon and off Cape Elizabeth (Kerosky et al. 2013). Calling occurred in all months, mostly at relatively low levels except for peaks in Dec-Jan and Jun. Most detections were made near Quinault Canyon.
11–22 Jul 2012	One individual seen over the continental shelf slope west of Westport (Jeffries et al. 2013a).
Sept 2012 to Jun 2013	Some acoustic detections made by a recording device located in the Quinault Canyon (Debich et al. 2014). Calling occurred in all months except Sep and Oct, with peaks from late Jan to early Mar, and in mid-Apr.
10 Dec 2012	An 8.6-m-long subadult found stranded near Cape Alava (NMFS, unpubl. data).
22 Aug 2013	One seen at 46.52°N, 125.00°W (Westport Seabirds, unpubl. data).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Records occurring close to the border of Washington. The whales involved in these may have entered the state's waters.

Appendix B. Species detections of blue, fin, sei, North Pacific, and sperm whales during 31 surveys conducted for cetaceans in Washington between 1958 and 2016.

	Species <sup>1</sup>						
Survey	Survey type <sup>1</sup>	Blue whale	Fin whale	Sei whale	North Pacific right whale	Sperm whale	
Fiscus and Niggol 1965	V	-	+	-	5	+	
Wahl 1977	V	-	-	-	-	-	
Green et al. 1992	V	-	-	-	-	+	
Moore et al. 1999	A, V	+	+	-	-	+	
Von Saunder and Barlow 1999	V, A	-	-	-	-	-	
Shelden et al. 2000	A	-	-	-	-	-	
Appler et al. 2004	V, A	-	+	-	-	-	
Calambokidis et al. 2004	V	-	-	-	-	-	
SWFSC 2006	V	-	-	-	-	-	
Calambokidis et al. 2007	V	-	-	-	-	-	
Forney 2007	V	-	-	-	-	+	
Hanson et al. 2008a	V, A	-	-	-	-	+	
Hanson et al. 2008b	V, A	-	-	-	-	-	
Calambokidis et al. 2009	V	-	-	-	-	-	
Hanson et al. 2009	V, A	-	+	-	-	-	
Oleson et al. 2009	A, V	_	+	-	-	+	
Barlow 2010	V	-	+	-	-	+	
Hanson et al. 2010	V, A	_	-	-	-	-	
Širović et al. 2011	A	+	+	-	-	+	
Jeffries 2012	V	+	+	-	-	+	
Jeffries et al. 2012	V	-	+	-	-	-	
Oleson and Hildebrand 2012	A, V	+	+	-	-	+	
Širović et al. 2012	A	+	+	-	-	+	
Jeffries et al. 2013a	V	-	+	-	-	+	
Jeffries et al. 2013b	V	-	+	=	-	-	
Kerosky et al. 2013	A	+	+	=	-	+	
Adams et al. 2014	V	-	-	-	-	+	
Debich et al. 2014	A	+	+	-	+	+	
Trickey et al. 2015	A	+	+	-	-	-	
Barlow 2016	V	+	+	-	-	-	
Westport Seabirds, unpubl. data	V	+	+	5	-	+	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Symbols: V, visual methods were used in the survey; A, acoustic methods were used in the survey; +, species recorded during the survey; -, species not recorded during the survey; ?, reported detections of a species that are now considered questionable (see Appendix A for more explanation).